

# Possibilities for a Local Lunar Time Standard

Promoting Cooperation and Bootstrapping Early Lunar Operations

White Paper- April 2023

Thanks to our Fund a Fellow Sponsor:





OPEN LUNAR FOUNDATION

Possibilities for a Local Lunar Time Standard that Promotes Cooperation and Bootstraps Early Lunar Operations

Philip Linden<sup>1</sup>, Sam Jardine<sup>2</sup>, & Jessy Kate Schingler<sup>3</sup>

April 2023

The establishment of a local lunar time standard or a shared and openly accessible reference timing signal can greatly enhance the positioning, navigation, and timing (PNT) capabilities of lunar missions without the need for direct links to Earth or precision instruments to be a requirement for every mission to the Moon. This paper proposes the concept of a local lunar time standard that can be accessed using technology that is likely to be included in most lunar missions for nominal activities. Even if the local lunar time standard exhibits drift or variations from terrestrial time, its existence would be a significant step towards lunar coordination. Unlike terrestrial synchronized time, a fully usable lunar reference time can be implemented proactively before the activity that necessitates it occurs. This paper discusses the potential benefits and challenges of establishing a local lunar time standard and its implications for lunar missions, including its compatibility with existing lunar initiatives such as LunaNet, Moonlight, and upcoming lunar missions. The proposal highlights the opportunities and considerations for stakeholders in the cislunar ecosystem, including options for missions to ignore, participate in seeding, or consume the proposed timekeeping protocol. The proposal is expected to contribute to the evolving landscape of timekeeping technologies and methods in cislunar space, and stimulate further research and discussion on this topic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Research Fellow, Open Lunar Foundation <u>lindenphilipj@gmail.com;</u> Principal author of Part I, Part III, Part IV, and Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Research Fellow, Open Lunar Foundation, <u>sammercury@hotmail.co.uk</u>; Principal author of Part II.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Senior Advisor, Open Lunar Foundation, <u>jessykate@openlunar.org</u>, Advisor and editor of all Parts and Appendix



# **Table of Contents**

Painted picture: lunar operations 10+ years from now	4
PART I: Introduction	5
Motivation	5
A local lunar time reference is necessary	6
An open, collaborative approach fosters growth	7
Objectives	7
Relationship to Upcoming Missions & Programs	9
PART II: Benefits of Synchronized and Standardized Time Local to the Moon	11
Need and Benefits of Local Lunar Time	11
Economy	12
Society	13
Security	13
Governance	15
Challenges for Local Lunar Time	16
Astropolitical Competition	16
Reluctance to Participate	17
PART III: Essential Characteristics	18
Assumptions	18
Lunar actors are willing and able to communicate with each other	18
A time reference does not need to be an observation of nature	18
Lunar communications network topology is inherently dynamic	19
Timekeeping accuracy must be within tens of nanoseconds	19
Suitable Timekeeping Technologies	20
Oscillators suitable for deep space	20
Suitable time transfer protocols	21
PART IV: Possible Implementations	22
Option 0: Singular Time Source	22
Design trades have an outsized impact	23
Technically and politically fragile	25
Fragility increases at scale	26
Option 1: Centrally Controlled Network of Time Sources	26



A centralized service needs a dedicated operator	27
The optimal number of nodes is unclear	28
Option 2: Time Sourced from Community Contributions	29
Option 3: Decentralized Time Between Peers	31
Proximity-Based Synchronization	32
Local Synchronization Clusters with Delegates	33
PART V: Conclusion	34
Acknowledgements	34
APPENDIX	35
Terminology	35
Network time-server hierarchy as a baseline model	36
Timekeeping technologies & methods	37
Listening to existing signals	37
Using a local oscillator ("clock")	38
Watching celestial objects	40
Synthesizing a "virtual" clock from many other clocks	41
Time transfer protocols	42
Impact of time transfer approach on host architectures	42
Network Time Protocol (NTP)	43
Precision Time Protocol (PTP)	44
Peer-to-Peer/Distributed Clock Synchronization	45
Bundle Protocol	45
REFERENCES	47



# Painted picture: lunar operations 10+ years from now

It is 2035. Many governments, non-governmental organisations, universities, and commercial ventures own and operate spacecraft in lunar orbit and on the lunar surface. Orbital platforms occupy a variety of trajectories, including Near-Rectilinear Halo Orbits, circular orbits and eccentric orbits, while surface operations are clustered near favourable zones such as the lunar South Pole.

Most local infrastructure systems (navigation, communications networks, resource management, etc.) were overseen carefully by terrestrial human operators at first, then increasingly operated autonomously as machine systems improved. Constituent systems now interact and coordinate autonomously. Humans interface and act amid a broader autonomous ecosystem.

A dynamic network of heterogeneous clock devices autonomously and opportunistically synchronize their time using a decentralized protocol. This protocol allows all clocks in cislunar space to contribute to a single reference time that can then be used for navigation and communications, as well as to update the clocks themselves. As a trusted, neutral time source, this lunar time standard is relied upon for activities ranging from registration to coordination of assets between geopolitical rivals to small CubeSats from emerging space actors who wouldn't otherwise have access to good quality time references.

The protocol is managed by a group of experts representing diverse stakeholder groups that all have an interest in accurate and resilient time sources. Over 100 clocks now participate in the system. This system has become the de facto Lunar Standard Time and is the reference for Cislunar space. It has also become a reference case study regarding equitable governance approaches for shared utilities. Time synchronization and update events are transparent to the entire lunar community.

In an effort to support innovation and university research seeking to operate at the Moon, an academic group developed an open hardware design for a clock that was sufficiently dependable, accurate, and affordable such that they have become commodity devices flown on missions to integrate with the time dissemination network. The devices are also interoperable with dissimilar devices using the common protocol.

Lunar positioning, navigation, and timing (PNT) is made accessible thanks to the commoditized clock devices, and many additional actors participate in the time network, further improving the accuracy of the global lunar reference time. The size, weight, power, accuracy, and cost of interoperable clocks improve as innovators improve upon the open standard and experimental techniques are explored.



# **PART I: Introduction**

In this paper, the characteristics of a common reference timing signal to serve future lunar operations are explored. The history of time standards on Earth is also examined in order to understand the potential impacts and consequences of such a reference time. The goal is to identify a low-cost, transparent approach to the development of a Local Lunar Time Standard.

## **Motivation**

Today, missions beyond Earth orbit receive time-transfer signals over direct links to ground stations on Earth. Spacecraft on the Moon are operated remotely from Earth. There is currently little to no autonomous coordination between actors in cislunar space,<sup>4</sup> so the need for an in situ timekeeping function is still low. But there are a plethora of missions to the Moon planned in the next decade (see <u>Relationship to</u> <u>Upcoming Missions & Programs</u>, below), many of which are expected to involve autonomous operations and real-time coordination between activities.

Time transfer to the cislunar environment directly from Earth-bound antennas will not meet the need for clock alignment, the efficiency of access to timing information and commensurate coordination needs required for lunar missions expected to be in operation by 2030 [2]. These missions can reasonably be expected to depend on a time standard and synchronization service local to the lunar environment, without requiring a direct, simultaneous connection between Earth and each participant.

Space-based Positioning, Navigation, and Timing (PNT) systems in Earth orbit known as Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS)<sup>5</sup> have benefited from massive investments and mature space organizations [3]. NASA has demonstrated that it may be feasible to operate a very precise atomic clock in deep space [4]—to the tune of tens of millions of dollars each. It would take significant time and investment to create a GNSS-like network in cislunar orbit. There is an opportunity, however, to incrementally develop PNT infrastructure grown out of the burgeoning lunar ecosystem that demands it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> One example of coordinated operations in lunar orbit is GRAIL, in which a pair of lunar satellites operated in tandem around the Moon to map variations in the lunar gravitational field by measuring relativistic effects on each spacecraft's timekeeping system as they orbited the Moon [1].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) are constellations of satellites that beacon high-precision time signals toward Earth. Commoditized receivers enable low-cost and low-power systems to maintain timing accuracy to UTC with up to nanosecond precision, and ranging accuracy within a few meters. Examples of GNSS networks include GPS (USA), GLONASS (Russia), and BeiDou (China).



A single trusted, shared time source local to the lunar environment is the simplest solution to bridge the gap in PNT services as the lunar ecosystem develops, especially in the near-term. However, a single source is unlikely to meet the needs of all missions simultaneously. Importantly, it would serve as a useful baseline for a local lunar timing service while lunar activities are still nascent.

In the medium- and long-term, a cooperative network of timekeeping devices could offer an agile and affordable approach to supporting an ecosystem of diverse actors in cislunar space. A cooperative network would support incremental improvements while building in elements of transparency and coordination that will be important for long-term stability in the lunar environment. This enables the network to grow and benefit from innovations in technology and CONOPS as the community of lunar operators develops in terms of population, autonomy, and PNT needs.

Lunar timekeeping is a complex and evolving field that requires further research, experimentation, and collaboration among space agencies, researchers, and industry stakeholders to establish a robust and reliable lunar timekeeping framework for future missions.

## A local lunar time reference is necessary

PNT is difficult without a precise reference signal for timing [1], [5], [6]. In the absence of a reference system, each operator has to stand up their own approach, either with terrestrial ground station links, intermediate commercial systems or rely on timekeeping devices on board each vehicle. Depending on the capabilities required, these options may involve significant cost and/or engineering expertise to implement. Lack of a shared time source may contribute to misunderstandings, conflict, and difficulty in conducting basic operational coordination necessary for effective lunar activity.<sup>6</sup>

A local lunar time standard, or a shared and openly accessible reference timing signal, bootstraps lunar missions with PNT capability without requiring direct links to Earth or precision instruments. Such a signal would be accessible using technology already likely to be included with most lunar missions for nominal activities. The existence of a shared local time standard would be an important step for lunar coordination, even if it exhibits drift or variations from terrestrial time. Unlike

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> An example of this can be seen during the First Gulf War, often dubbed the first "space war" due to the reliance of coalition forces on space-based infrastructure like GPS. At the time, the GPS network was not as comprehensive in coverage as today, and the commander of the British Army's 7<sup>th</sup> Division noted that his battle group would "get lost" out in the desert for a full fifteen minutes every morning and every evening as the satellite network went out of range [7]. From a military-security perspective, this left them highly vulnerable and could have jeopardized operations. In other contexts, a similar sparse orbital population could see a range of activities put at risk or, at best, become inefficient.



terrestrial synchronized time, there is an opportunity to implement a fully usable lunar reference time *before* the activity that necessitates it occurs.

## An open, collaborative approach fosters growth

An open and collaborative time standard sets an important precedent for lunar activity. These traits increase access to and accuracy of PNT as more operators participate and contribute to the time standard, thus rewarding cooperation and transparency. The CubeSat standard, for example, provided an open, albeit imperfect, standard to bootstrap low-cost, experimental satellites in Low Earth Orbit (LEO) when it was first published in 1999 [8]. The standard provided unprecedented access to spacecraft design for new organizations and individuals at the time. With contributions from academia and industry and a decade of iteration and collaboration, the CubeSat standard brought a paradigm shift to the satellite industry and catalysed innovations toward commoditized satellite components and access to low-cost orbital platforms [9], [10]. Likewise, an open lunar time standard has the potential to bootstrap developing lunar activities. The time standard should therefore be implemented as an open standard.

Openness is central to providing a shared common service, like a time standard. International recommendations to design such standards have already taken root at government space agencies.<sup>7</sup> An open time standard would reward adoption and, in the case of a cooperative protocol, would increase access to the service in turn.

## **Objectives**

There is an opportunity to set a positive precedent by establishing a time standard that embodies the following values:

**Open to all.** The reference time may be used by anyone who follows the protocol.

**Apolitical.** The reference time and time dissemination system are operated transparently to all clients, especially when the value of the time is adjusted. Certain governments are unlikely to trust or unilaterally rely upon foreign governments' time sources, especially those with geopolitical rivalries. Commercial operators are unlikely to be relied upon by any government unless they are well-resourced and experienced operators, which would likely raise similar issues with foreign governments. Therefore, a local lunar time standard should be coordinated by a neutral third party, much like the Bureau of International Weights and Measures coordinates UTC on Earth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> LunaNet [11], Moonlight [12], and other leading standards for lunar missions are all intended to be interoperable. This follows recommendations published by the international space community.



**Reference hardware designs.** An open, freely available hardware specification is available for any actor who wishes to contribute to the reference time. This standard is developed and maintained by an independent, apolitical organization. Reference protocol, service, and/or device designs are based on well-understood technologies.

**Leverage contributions from distributed sources.** The reference time is made up of contributions from many participant nodes. The aggregated reference time is statistically-based, the best estimate derived from many observations from multiple clocks.

The following are envisioned as key characteristics of an open time standard for lunar operations that fulfils these objectives:

- Access to a *shared* time source is more useful than a supremely accurate time source early on. Importantly, it doesn't matter if a shared reference is synced to any other actor, as long as all the participating actors are coordinated.
- Every actor that participates in the network contributes to the source.
  - While community contributions are not necessary to achieve the technical goals of a reference time service, such contribution imbues values such as cooperation and openness that reinforce the system's utility, trust, and longevity. Therefore, this trait is necessary for broad, sustainable, and long-lasting adoption of such a system.
- The entire cooperative network benefits when future missions participate.
  - Early missions likely won't require very accurate timekeeping, but would benefit from access to a time service. Later missions will likely require accurate timekeeping. If the existing accuracy isn't good enough, missions can bring their own clock. When a more precise clock participates in the cooperative network, the stability and accuracy of the entire network improve.
  - More precise clocks could be introduced with additional missions, supporting existing missions by participating in the timekeeping network. This reduces risk by incrementally improving the timekeeping network as it is necessary for future activities, and doesn't lock the network into legacy technology.

The following characteristics of a time standard are relevant to lunar operations, but not necessarily required in order for a local lunar time standard to be effective:



- Synchronizing to an outside reference time, such as UTC,<sup>8</sup> is NOT a requirement for a successful lunar reference time. Actors in lunar space only need to synchronize to a terrestrial time reference if they are coordinating with an Earth-based actor [15].<sup>9</sup>
- The timescale is decimated in a linear scale elapsed from an epoch, *i.e.* an "origin" moment in time, and is NOT organized into buckets of time like days, weeks, months, or years [16], [17].
  - Of course, lunar reference time can be translated into UTC (or any other Earth-based time decimation system) for an equivalent Earth day, hour, or year to describe a given moment. This is commonplace today, with computer systems converting between UTC and Unix Epoch time.
  - It may be useful for some lunar missions to keep track of the lunar synodic day (time for the sun to reach the same position in the local sky) or lunar sidereal year (time for the Moon to return to the same spot in the solar system reference frame, *i.e.* stars returning to the same position in the local sky). Neither of these time frames bears importance to lunar operations en masse, especially with missions that transit between the Earth and the Moon.<sup>10</sup>
  - Using a continuous timescale also avoids problems that may occur due to "leap seconds" or "rollover" events [2], [18].<sup>11</sup>

## **Relationship to Upcoming Missions & Programs**

The proposal for lunar timekeeping, including the approaches mentioned such as LunaNet, Moonlight, and upcoming technology demonstration missions, especially spacecraft with precision navigation or communications capabilities, will likely be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Coordinated Universal Time (UTC) is based on International Atomic Time (TAI), but it is adjusted by leap seconds to account for the difference between the definition of the second and the rotation of Earth [13]. Distinctions between these timescales are not relevant to the discussion presented in this paper, but it is useful to understand the relationship between the timescales used for deep space missions throughout history [14].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Practically speaking, it is very likely that lunar actors will want to coordinate with earth actors. This is not an inherent requirement to use a local lunar standard time, however. In other words, the *ability to synchronize* with UTC or another timescale is more important than actually *being synchronized* to a terrestrial reference time [2].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Missions that operate on Mars typically count the number of synodic Martian days, or Sols, since operations are dictated by the available solar energy. The same premise can be applied to lunar missions. Importantly, the lunar reference time is just a moment in time that can be agreed upon, so it is not necessary to encode information about the day/night cycle in the measurement. If the lunar synodic or sidereal is needed for a mission, it can be derived from the lunar reference time using a calendar designed for this purpose.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> These are examples of "jumps" present in some timescales that lead to discontinuities in the reported time, usually to align a timescale like UTC to the observed solar time on Earth. This practice has fallen out of favor in recent years because of problems that commonly arise from such discontinuities in modern networks and computer systems [19].



influenced by the wider ecosystem of capabilities that are being developed in cislunar space.

As the ecosystem matures, there may be opportunities for integration, competition, and interoperability among different timekeeping technologies and protocols. For example, LunaNet and Moonlight initiatives could potentially collaborate or compete in providing timekeeping services and may offer complementary or competing capabilities for lunar positioning, navigation, and timing in the overall timekeeping framework.

The involvement and input from relevant entities involved in lunar missions and their interests will be important in understanding how the proposal for lunar timekeeping may be received and adopted. Incentives for missions to participate in the proposed timekeeping protocol, such as benefits in terms of accuracy, reliability, interoperability, or cost savings, may influence their decision to adopt or support the proposed approach.

Options for missions in the ecosystem may include ignoring the proposed timekeeping protocol, actively participating in seeding and developing the protocol, or simply consuming the services provided by the protocol. The adoption and evolution of the proposed timekeeping framework will depend on a variety of factors, including stakeholder interests, technological advancements, regulatory frameworks, and market dynamics in the cislunar ecosystem.

Overall, the proposal for lunar timekeeping will likely be influenced by the wider ecosystem of capabilities that are being developed in cislunar space, and the approach may need to evolve and adapt as the ecosystem matures and stakeholders navigate the landscape of incentives, options, and opportunities presented by the evolving cislunar ecosystem.



# PART II: Benefits of Synchronized and Standardized Time Local to the Moon

Synchronized and standardized time has been historically driven by the need to broaden and better facilitate economic and social interactions, security, and transparency. In the short term, it helps facilitate the growth of economic and social activity "at scale" while in the longer term, it is fundamental to create communities at scale through the provision of a shared point of reference.

In the case of the Moon, a standardized time utilized by all interested actors would:

**Over the short term,** provide safety and security through a common point of reference not subject to misinterpretation that could be highly valuable in an environment where landing sites and points of interests are comparatively limited, and interests and operations steadily increasing from a myriad of stakeholders.

**Over the long term,** help those actors with semi-permanent or persistent missions on the Moon (crewed or uncrewed) operate more effectively with regard to one another. Especially at a point in time when adherence and respect to conceptions like safety zones is an unknown quantity between major competing stakeholders.

## **Need and Benefits of Local Lunar Time**

From a socio-political perspective, the flow of time is not actually a concept which is experienced universally in the same way by all peoples and geographies. Its telling is mediated and represented by different types of clocks and calendars, whose reach is determined by socially constructed institutions and protocols, and the agreement or at least acquiescence of those affected [20].

For this reason, the expansion of a standardized time on earth synchronized between key actors was both driven by and also facilitating an increasingly connected globe.

A major step towards this was the 1884 International Prime Meridian Conference hosted by the US, in Washington DC and attended by twenty-six countries, which at the time were all the major political and economic powers. The aim was to establish a Prime Meridian to standardize time and longitude, from which the rest of the world could synchronize [21].

The reason for this, in the words of Britain's delegate, was to "secure the greatest convenience of the whole civilized world" [22]. Whilst this is steeped in the rhetoric of



the time, what it meant to the delegates in practice, was the wish by all parties to secure a standardized international time to facilitate and support more effective development in four key areas. This earth-based context, as shall be highlighted, is directly relevant to the developing lunar environment.

## Economy

At the 1884 conference, it was noted that the "exactness of time reckoning is an imperative necessity in the conduct of business" [22]. Economic activity was made more efficient, or even—over larger distances—facilitated by a shared framework of time. Meetings and other communications could be arranged, and transactions and deliveries scheduled with accuracy.

In a lunar context, while economic activity is nascent and will be minimal for some time yet, it is firmly on the agenda for most lunar-interested actors [23]–[25]. Establishing a shared sense of time between actors could alleviate a multitude of problems which might occur in what is a physically hostile, capital-intensive, and highly risky environment, and so aid in its start-up. For instance, it could ensure efficiency and transparency surrounding where actors are operating. With comparatively (for the foreseeable future) limited landing sites and points of interest [26], and an increasingly competitive political and economic environment both globally [27] and in regard to the Moon itself [28]. Being able to broadcast accurate time and positioning information to state or private sector actors in a way that does not cause confusion, when a mission is taking place (both in terms of time and GNSS) and what it is doing at a given time is all the more important to avoid misunderstandings or issues.

An example of the difficulty of not having a transparent, shared, and synchronized time basis can be found in the Antarctic, where in 2020 a Russian fishing vessel was alleged, to the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources, by New Zealand to be operating in a zone that had been "closed" for the fishing season. Russia claimed that New Zealand had got the location data (which is derived from time signals via GNSS systems) wrong, and offered up its own interpretation (which it refused to share publicly). Both sides escalated, stating the other had doctored the evidence [29].

Attempting to head off such risks in the short term for the lunar environment through a neutral standardized and synchronized time would aid in establishing a stable and sustainable commercial environment before stakeholders have become established and invested in heterogeneous systems, making them more reluctant to cooperate with other systems. Indeed, longer term, it could help stave off the inefficiencies that medieval merchants faced with the existence of "city time"—this



being where individual local authorities had their own conceptions of time (and based regulations around them) which then external stakeholders had to adapt to separately [30].

## Society

The "common good of mankind" was a persistent reference from all delegates [22] at the Prime Meridian Conference. This means that a synchronized and universally-agreed reference of time could facilitate the national and international activity of all manner far more efficiently, and indeed make it possible for connectivity over truly global distances. While a fully-fledged lunar society remains a far-distant aim for many lunar stakeholders, establishing a framework now would likely prove more politically expedient. Especially as time can prove to potentially be a heavily politicized concept wielded by authorities to create a sense of national or community cohesion and identity— as, for example, Beijing and Delhi have done by basing their nations' time on that in the capital, despite spanning multiple timezones. [31].

In the more immediate term, a standardized and synchronized lunar time system would help inter-lunar communications between different missions on the lunar surface; i.e. between any semi-permanently crewed Artemis team in the 2030s and Chinese equivalent through a common frame of reference [32], [33].

## Security

The British delegate at the 1884 Meridian Conference noted that as technology shrank the globe, and humanity became an ever-closer-knit community, while great progress, cooperation, and positive activities were facilitated, there were "evils" to that also "must greatly increase rather than be lessened" [22]. These evils are two-fold;

Firstly the direct issues, inconveniences, and dangers of an interconnected world having different conceptions of time; for instance, as seen in the 1851 New England train crash, in which 14 died due to the two trains' conductors having aligned their clocks with differing local times [34].

In the foreseeable future on the Moon, there is a slight, though increasingly real, political and operational risk that Actors X and Y have long-term crewed or uncrewed missions operating near the same point of interest (courtesy of the comparatively limited landing zones and areas of interest such as at the lunar South Pole) [35]. Actor X is an Artemis Accord Signatory, and so claims a safety zone. Actor Y is not a signatory but follows a similar practice of utilizing a zone of operations as a safety and/or regulatory measure. Actor X courtesy of the NASA clarification wants to make



sure that it respects the zone of Actor Y in that area [26], and also that Actor Y respects its safety zone, lest the legitimacy of the Artemis Accords be pulled into question (if enforcement is lax, the Accords are just paper). A lot of political capital is at stake with significant spill-back potential on Earth, not to mention the operational safety implications at play. A shared and synchronized time reference utilized by both Actors will avoid misunderstandings and difficulties—both politically (as in the example mentioned previously of Russia's 2020 Antarctic fishing vessel) and from an operational safety perspective.

Such a scenario indeed may not be too distant into the future. Already, there is a growing potential for mission overlap regarding lunar areas of interest for the US' Artemis Programme and China's counterpart [36];



Blue squares are candidate locations for the Artemis Program's operations at the lunar South Pole. Red marks are those proposed by CAST scientists. Data and image courtesy of <u>CNSpaceflight</u>, 22 August 2022 [37].

Secondly, as the British delegate at the Prime Meridian Conference also references, the difficulties that not having a shared sense of time (and so place) can lead to



politics between nations and actors on a wider scale; for example, a common source of tension between states was over claims and borders [38].

The 1967 Outer Space Treaty's Article II expressly forbids the sovereign claiming of celestial bodies, and while we would not suggest that a lunar time standard should or would be used for contravening this, it can help defuse potential disagreements over a safety zone or operating area through reference to a standardized time of who is there when, and who "found" the point of interest first (which can play a role in de-escalating disputes between actors over which should be allowed to operate in a given area). For example, a major part of legitimizing the ownership of a claim was the date, and often time it was "discovered". For example; In the Antarctic, the lack of an indigenous population and its incredibly hostile environment (a context shared by the lunar environment) meant that the typical means of legitimizing a territorial claim, such as being recognized as a new authority by those currently occupying the land, physically colonizing the area, or setting up the economic, political, and security infrastructure to exert pressure in defence of that claim were impossible [39]. As such, "discovery" was given a lot of weight legally and politically to compensate by several significant claimants [40]; and the point of discovery was disputed due to a lack of permanent markers [41]. Britain, France, the US, and Russia particularly did not recognize one another's claims, leading from the late 19th century until 1959 to a growing geopolitical competition over the Antarctic and rising tensions. Including, despite its unknown and disputed strategic and economic value-shots being fired, and military assets deployed [42]-[44].

With such precedents in mind at the time, and from competition elsewhere, an agreed framework for a synchronized and standardized lunar time could be an important tool, especially looking towards a future where already "the application of science to the means of locomotion and to the instantaneous transmission of thought and speech have gradually contracted space and annihilated distance" [22]. In this context, being able to accurately reference political events or safety zones could mean a key difference between escalation and mediation.

#### Governance

An underlying concern at the conference was that a standardized framework was required to allow states to police and government at national and international levels effectively the above three categories of activities, but also there was a recognition that a splintering of the world into contradictory time frameworks would be very damaging for international cooperation, peace, and prosperity.

This is the same for the Moon. In our current moment of geopolitical competition, the threat that the lunar environment becomes a new frontier for competition rather



than cooperation, much like the Arctic and Antarctic have become. Despite being internationally or multilaterally governed, and pegged as areas of successful cooperation, competition is starting to change them away from this [45]. It is important, then, that any pragmatic, low-hanging fruits of cooperation are established sooner rather than later. Indeed, the 1884 conference expressly aimed to "[throw] aside national preferences and inclinations" in pursuit of getting consensus regarding a standardized time. This was maintained, and the delegations agreed that Greenwich should be recommended as the prime meridian— courtesy of it already being utilized as such by 65% of global shipping, compared to 10% for its nearest competition between these very powers at the time over territory, resources, "national honour", prestige, and security. A very similar context to the geopolitical competition we are facing now; particularly between the US and China [46], and their space-related rivalries [28].

Pragmatic steps, such as a standardized time, are low-hanging fruit for cooperation to form. Certainly, it provides a basis to mitigate somewhat the political and security difficulties that may arise. This is arguably needed at a time when making binding multilateral treaties regarding space and the Moon seems an impossibility due to their politicization [47]. Establishing a standardized and universally utilized lunar time system has, at this point in time, much to commend it.

## **Challenges for Local Lunar Time**

Delaying the consideration of a shared lunar time standard will make it even more difficult to achieve this low-hanging, pragmatic fruit for cooperation, as actors invest in their own frameworks. This would compound several issues that already need to be overcome in the near future.

## Astropolitical Competition

While a standard and synchronized lunar time holds the potential to be a key and easily accepted tool of international cooperation, both in its forming and in its mitigation of aforementioned political, security, and economic risk, it must be recognized that we are already in a "post-ISS" era [48], both physically but also astropolitically. The globe, much like during the 1884 Meridian Conference, is experiencing a period of increasing multipolar geopolitical competition which has spilled over into the politicization of most international spheres such as supply chains, and legally binding treaties [49]. While in 1884 this environment was overcome due to the pragmatism and clear advantage to all actors in having global time, this cannot simply be taken for granted as happening again; history often rhymes, but never repeats. Certainly, in what should be other low-hanging regulatory



fruit, such as agreeing to ban kinetic anti-satellite weaponry whose use could damage the infrastructure of friend, foe, and neutral parties alike, no real progress has been made as China and the US refuse to compromise from their respective propositions [50], [51].

Establishing a shared lunar time system then requires more than simply passively waiting for stakeholders to deem it useful. There needs to be a clear conversation surrounding potential systems (as this paper provides), and ideally, a politically neutral push towards getting either, major stakeholders interested, or, providing for a grassroots adoption by smaller actors and commercial enterprises.

Interestingly, it is during this period of astropolitical competition that there might be an advantage for NGOs and other politically neutral actors in pushing for alternative governance frameworks. While competition potentially prevents actors from compromising and forging cooperative agreements between themselves as easily as might be hoped, as in the case of the Anti-satellite (ASAT) negotiations, this does provide space for democratization of space and lunar governance. Where state actors might be, for a variety of interest-related reasons, unable to compromise, non-government and "neutral" parties have greater leeway and potential support in offering a way forward that might be taken seriously by competing state actors to break the deadlock in a way that both sides may want, but neither can accept directly from the other.

## Reluctance to Participate

Not all actors will wish to give up the advantages that a flexible approach to timekeeping may provide—for instance, in being a way of giving up control, and self-reliance regarding data fundamental to politically-charged incidents, such as with the 2020 Russian fishing vessel [29]. Here, the accusation by Russia that New Zealand "fiddled" with the GPS data to make them look bad provided a degree of deniability, while also interestingly providing an "off-ramp" potentially for further escalation regarding the incident as it was a denial that, perhaps in a different circumstance where more is at stake, one side would like to accept and could publicly present. An accurate and universal conception of time-shared by all parties, make even "implausible deniability" however. miaht iust plain implausible—removing an element of the escalatory "off-ramp" from actors. As such, maintaining this degree of political freedom might be deemed more important for now, by actors engaged in astropolitical competition.

Likewise, state actors may be attached to their own time systems that are wielded to help foster a sense of shared national or community identity [52] and national pride.



Prominent states like China continue to adopt this approach, despite the drawbacks it presents from a social and economic perspective [31].

In these contexts, the approach to mitigation will need to be considered on a case-by-case approach and the concerns of all lunar stakeholders acknowledged.

# **PART III: Essential Characteristics**

## Assumptions

Lunar operations are still nascent, and many dimensions of the trade space for developing a useful time standard are nebulous or unknown. This paper identifies several reasonable assumptions to set up a lens for analysing this topic.

## Lunar actors are willing and able to communicate with each other

Lunar activities planned today ubiquitously have telecommunications as an aspect to nominal operations. A direct telecommunications link to Earth is not trivial, however, so we shall assume that surface-to-orbit or intersat links are possible, but a direct link to Earth might not be feasible. Interacting with a time standard should therefore piggyback upon these existing transmitters and/or receivers sized for lunar-orbit-to-lunar-orbit or lunar-surface-to-lunar-orbit telecommunications.

We assume that actors are willing and able to communicate with the service that operates the time standard. The design of the time standard should encourage this!

## A time reference does not need to be an observation of nature

It would be best to have a stable clock signal that was universally observable and independently verifiable. A commonly observable natural phenomenon at the heart of the time standard would be ideal, but it's not a necessary element of a useful service for early lunar operations.

- PNT needs a time signal that is stable in the short term. Even a clock derived from observations of natural phenomena needs to include a local oscillator in order to keep the time between observations of the external source.
- Users of the time standard interact with it the same way, regardless of the true frequency source that the time standard is based on. The origin of the frequency source does not change the protocol for how time is shared between nodes. Coordination requires a time signal that is shared between actors.



A locally hosted oscillator could be just as trustworthy as an external, observable source for a spacecraft. For example, the internationally maintained TAI time standard is composed of measurements from many certified oscillators—most of the constituent clocks that comprise TAI don't observe natural or extrasolar phenomena [53]. As another example, UTC is itself a so-called "paper clock"—there is no physical clock or oscillator that is a single instantiation of UTC. Instead, individual time laboratories steer their clocks to an estimate of where UTC is going to be, and the International Bureau of Weights and Measures (BIPM) takes all the individual time lab contributions, applies a weighted algorithm to the contributions, then publishes the difference between each lab and UTC on a regular basis [54].

## Lunar communications network topology is inherently dynamic

Unlike most terrestrial networks, where clients and servers are joined over long distances by a well-established infrastructure of wired and wireless connections, the topology of nearly all lunar networks will be inherently dynamic and evolving over time. Not only is there no existing communications infrastructure on the Moon, but all planned lunar telecommunications architectures are based on long-range, wireless surface-to-orbit or orbit-to-orbit links, and many missions with relatively short lifespans [55], [56].

Whether a server or client is in orbit or on the lunar surface, its communications system has coverage limits to its transmission and reception fields of view/fields of regard. Entire regions of orbital and surface selenography<sup>12</sup> may be partitioned from other members of the network, especially early on.

An agile approach to lunar operations in the near term must account for the expectation of most missions having a short mission life. Technology is still being developed, and new technology often has performance issues with reliability and/or ageing. Further, new technologies will continue to push the ecosystem forward and break new ground. Going from no infrastructure to a developing ecosystem will inherently involve diverse hardware and have frequent turnover as missions come and go—in terms of coverage and operating life. On the other hand, this can be an opportunity to constantly improve the time source itself [57].

## Timekeeping accuracy must be within tens of nanoseconds

All navigation algorithms are grounded on the basis of events happening over time, which means that timekeeping accuracy impacts nearly every other aspect of PNT calculations. For this reason, the lunar reference clock must have excellent long-term

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> We define *selenography* as a general term for areas on and around the Moon, similar to how the word *geography* is used to describe regions on Earth.



stability. The reference clock does not need to "tick" every nanosecond, but every "tick" (once per second, for example) must remain consistent on the order of tens of nanoseconds for a long period of time.

Space missions typically require timing accuracy ranging from microseconds (10<sup>-6</sup> s) to nanoseconds (10<sup>-9</sup> s) for communications, precise navigation, and other activities [2]. Therefore, a useful reference clock should maintain timing accuracy of at *least* 1.2×10<sup>-5</sup> PPM (about 1 microsecond error per Earth-day).<sup>13, 14</sup>

## Suitable Timekeeping Technologies

It is important to thoroughly evaluate the accuracy, stability, reliability, and suitability of different timekeeping technologies based on the specific needs and constraints of the cislunar space mission for positioning, navigation, and timing purposes. Additionally, considering factors such as mission duration, cost, and availability of resources will also play a crucial role in selecting the best technology for timekeeping in cislunar space.

## Oscillators suitable for deep space

The best technology for timekeeping in cislunar space, which includes the region between the Earth and the Moon, for the purpose of positioning, navigation, and timing (PNT) depends on various factors such as accuracy requirements, mission objectives, and available resources. Some potential options to consider are:

**Deep Space Atomic Clock (DSAC):** DSAC is considered to be the best option for a singular time source due to its high accuracy and stability. It is capable of providing precise timing information for PNT applications in cislunar space.

**Chip-Scale Atomic Clock (CSAC):** CSAC is known for its long-term stability and can be a suitable option for timekeeping in cislunar space. It offers good accuracy and can be utilized in missions that require reliable timekeeping over extended durations.

**Rubidium Atomic Frequency Standard (RAFS):** RAFS is another option for timekeeping in cislunar space. While it may be considered overrated by some, it can still provide accurate timing information for certain mission requirements.

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  Some napkin maths: the precision needed to maintain 1 µs of error between communications with terrestrial operators, conservatively assuming 1 communication session per Earth-day, translates to an error of ~1.2×10<sup>-5</sup> parts-per-million (PPM).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> For example, 1 microsecond (10<sup>-6</sup> s) of timing error for a craft in polar orbit around the Moon such as the Lunar Reconnaissance Orbiter (LRO) travelling at 1600 m/s [58] corresponds to an accumulation of about 1 mm of position error per second. At this rate, LRO's estimated position could drift by more than 7 meters after just one orbit!



**Using Multiple Clocks on a Single Board:** To reduce risk and improve resilience, employing multiple clocks on a single board can be considered. This approach can enhance redundancy and reliability in timekeeping systems for cislunar space missions. Time laboratories on Earth are often made up of ensembles of clocks—frequently caesium and hydrogen maser, or caesium and rubidium [59]–[62]—that are complementary. A time system that incorporates observations from a variety of timekeeping devices and technologies, some with better short-term stability and others with better long-term stability, might keep a more accurate time overall compared to a single clock.

These technologies and more are discussed further in the <u>Timekeeping technologies</u> <u>& methods</u> section of the Appendix.

## Suitable time transfer protocols

There are various time transfer protocols available, such as Precision Time Protocol (PTP), which offers nanosecond-level synchronization. Further research is needed to determine the best protocol for specific mission requirements.

These and other time transfer protocols are discussed further in the <u>Time transfer</u> <u>protocols</u> section of the Appendix.



# **PART IV: Possible Implementations**

Today, nearly all<sup>15</sup> lunar PNT occurs by sending time-transfer messages from Earth over direct links or simply not at all. Consider a concept of operations where an actor needs to perform PNT activities while it is transiting across the far side of the Moon. There are no precision time sources local to lunar space today designed to disseminate time to peers, so each new mission must maintain its own clock to a high degree of precision or rely on DSN.

Relegating the duty of timekeeping to each individual actor or to time-transfer from direct links to Earth is not sustainable to support widespread lunar activities [63], [64]. Although GNSS or GNSS-like signals could be detected on the Moon and used for PNT in limited circumstances [65], the utility of GNSS diminishes greatly at the Moon due to the geometry at play. On Earth or in LEO, GNSS satellites are widely separated across a user's field of regard and provide accurate PNT service. At lunar distances, however, GNSS satellites have very narrow angular separation, hindering the timing and positioning accuracy of GNSS signals for users in cislunar space [66].

It is clear that a time service local to cislunar space is needed for PNT, but what would it need to do in order to independently and apolitically maintain a local lunar reference time?

Part IV presents four possible implementations of a local lunar reference time, in order of ascending complexity. Open questions are identified for elements of each option presented.

## **Option 0: Singular Time Source**

As a baseline, consider a single time source (clock) deployed to the lunar environment by a specific lunar operator.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> One recent example of a lunar mission that does *not* use direct time transfer from DSN is CAPSTONE, a technology demonstrator specifically designed to explore this situation [5].





A singular time source is deployed in a south pole-focused orbit. It is orbital rather than ground based to provide visibility to the most users. It is in a south pole focused orbit to target the concentration of lunar activities planned for that region. The clock operates according to an open protocol. Missions operating in the South Pole environment would be able to use it. The clock's host spacecraft occasionally communicates with an independent operator on Earth to send and receive commands/telemetry, and updates the time to synchronize with TAI.

The orbit for a single time source could be a polar circular orbit or perhaps a highly elliptical orbit like a near-rectilinear halo orbit—the optimal orbit depends on a number of specific mission parameters, and is itself fertile territory for future research [67]–[69].

The main advantage to this kind of architecture is that it could be implemented today with existing technologies and protocols, since this paradigm is likely to lead to many distinct subnets that terminate at the reference time source, much like modern terrestrial networks. On the other hand, operating a single time source loses out on the opportunity to disseminate risks among an ensemble of devices and instrument technologies.

## Design trades have an outsized impact

Access to the system is the main limiting factor—it may not be feasible to access the time source from every mission profile. Thus, every design trade has a significant impact on the utility of the time source.

Like cell phone coverage on Earth, there is a trade-off in access between connecting to a signal transmitted located on the surface versus one in orbit. On the Moon, where there is no existing infrastructure, it is not obvious whether a surface-based or orbital time source is best suited to serve missions in the lunar environment.

The choice of location also impacts the clock's technical performance. The local gravity in cislunar space is not uniform. These non-uniformities lead to relativistic effects that speed up or slow down the time of a clock with respect to an observer on



Earth, even with an ideal clock [70]. While relativistic effects are still significant on the surface of the Moon, it is easier to correct for them because the clock wouldn't be moving across the Moon's gravity field and the local gravity would be consistent.

#### Surface Node

Although the vast majority of lunar surface activity will be localized to a reasonably small area [71], a single time source on the lunar surface would have a limited range of service. Even at the poles, access to an orbiting time source is limited, depending on the orbit [67]–[69].



Access to a surface-based time source requires line-of-sight, leaving faraway surface activities out of luck. Orbiting clients may still have access, depending on their orbit. Therefore, choosing an optimal location of the node is critical to its usefulness.

Power availability and maintaining the temperature of components in their operating range is of paramount concern for any spacecraft. Lunar synodic day, or the time it takes for the Sun to return to the same spot in the local sky, is 2,551,443 seconds (29.5 Earth-days) long. A surface-based lunar spacecraft must be equipped to continue operation in complete darkness during a lunar night, when temperatures can reach -130 °C, for nearly two Earth-weeks on end. Surviving the lunar night is anything trivial, but not an impossible task for a system designed for such extreme environments [72]–[74].

#### **Orbital Node**

An orbital time source would provide access to the most users, thanks to broad visibility of the lunar surface from above. An orbiting time source is more prone to relativistic effects degrading the time accuracy because it is travelling at high speeds and transiting through gravity fields. The power and thermal environment is not as extreme, since an orbit can be selected where the spacecraft spends just a few hours in lunar eclipse per orbit.





Access to an orbiting time source also requires line-of-sight, however the node covers more areas as it transits around the Moon. The drawback is that access is consequently intermittent for most clients.

A single time source or a sparse population of orbital nodes may lead to intermittent coverage. Orbiting time sources would always have periods of blackout as the spacecraft goes behind the Moon. This may or may not be of concern, depending on the activities and orbital period: there are many South Pole orbits which could provide revisit times well within desired update frequencies [69].

#### **Open Questions**

- What is the optimal location for a single-source time standard?
- What signal transmission power is required from the source (or the sensitivity of the receiver at the client) to supply a reliable timing signal?<sup>16</sup>

## Technically and politically fragile

In a centralized architecture, the responsibility of maintaining the time service falls upon the operator(s) of constituent nodes. In order to maintain the values of independence, apoliticalness, and being in the best interest of all, the time service operator must embody these values and be held accountable to them.

A single source would present a single point of failure to dependent systems, meaning its design would need to be robust and expensive (if not immediately superseded by constellation designs).

Certain governments are unlikely to trust or unilaterally rely upon foreign governments' time sources, especially those with geopolitical rivalries. Commercial operators are unlikely to be relied upon by any government unless they are well

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The system requirements here vary with system designs: distance to target and beam spread determine required power/sensitivity—remember, a signal's power is spread over its cross-sectional area.



resourced and experienced operators, which would likely raise similar issues with foreign governments. In this regard, a single centralized source would be difficult to achieve international trust and reliance.

#### **Open Questions**

- How is confidence in its reliability established? What happens if this service goes away?
- Who controls this service? What jurisdiction are they associated with?
- Who pays for this spacecraft, and how would they recoup their costs?

## Fragility increases at scale

In a dynamic network topology like we expect to find among lunar actors, this architecture is likely to become fragile at scale. As more missions with specialized or unique needs and profiles seek access to the time source, the more likely it is that the established single-source time standard is insufficient. In addition, demand for the time is anticipated to grow over time, but the clock's hardware performance is expected to degrade with age.

Two-way time transfer<sup>17</sup> presents a vulnerability wherein a surge in demand floods the service with connections or requests, causing it to fail [75]. This failure mode could arise as a result of usage exceeding the designed capacity of the system or from an intentional DDoS attack.

#### **Open Questions**

- What if a group of actors cannot resolve a path to the standard?
- How many clients is too many?

## **Option 1: Centrally Controlled Network of Time Sources**

Consider a fleet of reference clocks, akin to Option 0, deployed by a single operator in many lunar orbits and/or surface locations. Using many time sources extends the reach/accessibility of the centralized time service by providing a structured pathway for any actor to synchronize to the clocks belonging to that service.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> One-way and two-way time transfer are explained in the <u>Impact of time transfer approach on host</u> <u>architectures</u> section of the Appendix.





Many time sources are deployed in a variety of orbits, and to surface locations that provide visibility to regions that see high levels of activity. All the clocks operate according to an open protocol. The clocks' host spacecraft occasionally communicate with an independent operator on Earth to send and receive commands/telemetry, and update the time to synchronize with TAI. Each clock is operated as an independent time source.

Since this paradigm is an extension of <u>Option O</u>, it shares the advantage of being feasible to build with existing technology and protocols. Further, a *constellation* of time sources addresses key weaknesses to a single-source approach:

- Instead of needing to *trade* mission requirements for a one-size-fits-all solution, multiple time sources can be operated, with each tailored to a different area of the trade space.
- The system is more resilient to failures, since a client is more likely to have multiple time sources available to choose from. This has the secondary benefit of relaxing mission reliability constraints for the operator of the time sources.
- Accuracy and reliability of the system can improve over time. As new time sources are developed, additional nodes using the latest technology can be added to the system (and older or poor-performing time sources can be phased out).

## A centralized service needs a dedicated operator

A centralized system places the investment/effort load of maintaining the time standard solely on the operator.<sup>18</sup> This means growth and performance of the time standard is proportional to the level of investments from the operator, which are sure to not scale in the same manner as the number of potential clients demanding services. The business model for such a service is unclear: even if you charged for the time service, it is doubtful you could actually recoup mission costs—unless a major

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> While the time service itself is not decentralized in this paradigm, the operator could be.



government funds such a mission. Even so, funding for major missions is extremely competitive, and there are plenty of other concepts being advanced. More so, Artemis program and mission funding itself is uncertain in outyears.

Similarly, a centralized time service does not encourage cooperation between actors. If the open time service is inaccurate or unstable, influential organizations (like government space agencies or large commercial operators) would prefer to build their own closed networks. There is little incentive for an operator that has invested in expensive and superior timekeeping technology to contribute to a centralized time service infrastructure in ways that benefit other users.

#### **Open Questions**

- How is confidence in its reliability established? What happens if this service goes away?
- Who controls this service? What jurisdiction are they associated with?
- Who pays for this service, and how would they recoup their costs?

## The optimal number of nodes is unclear

Adding more nodes in the time service network would lead to increased access to the service by a wider variety of mission profiles.

Moreover, the resilience of multi-satellite fleet operations has been demonstrated time and again by Earth-orbit constellations [76], and similar benefits would be expected from a fleet of many time sources.



The benefits of a time utility really emerge in force when there are multiple nodes, but more nodes means more complexity and cost for the operator.

A single node might be sufficient at first, but it is essential to organize the system in a manner that lends itself to easily scale to include many server nodes in addition to many client nodes to prepare the system for growth.



#### **Open Questions**

- What is the optimal number and distribution of nodes? How does this change as the lunar ecosystem evolves?
- What is the trade-off between access and cost/complexity associated with operating a fleet of many time sources?

## **Option 2: Time Sourced from Community Contributions**

Helping to distribute the time is only one aspect of cooperative participation in a community time service. Nodes can also contribute their time source to be used to derive the reference time itself, similar to how many clocks contribute to TAI on Earth [53], [62].<sup>19</sup> The adoption and accuracy of a time utility depends on how member contributions to the reference scale as more participants join the network.



Many time sources are deployed in a variety of orbits, and to surface locations that provide visibility to regions that see high levels of activity. The clocks' host spacecraft are independently operated and maintained as independent time sources.

All the clocks operate according to an open protocol. The time signal from each clock is provided to an apolitical steward, which estimates the average local lunar time from all participating clocks. This reference time is used as the "true" time by participating time sources. Community contributions to the time standard set the foundation for an open and diverse time service that is resilient to bad-faith actors and improves alongside development of lunar activities.

Adopting a time standard that is sourced from peers lifts this burden from a single operator. Implementing an open clock design as a specification or turnkey component using standard hardware and software interfaces would catalyse this even further. Like the CubeSat Standard, operators may choose to design and build

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> While TAI does use contributions from many sources, BIPM has technical prerequisites for a time lab to participate [77]. Participation in the lunar time standard may be a useful incentive for actors to participate in an information sharing program like registries proposed by Open Lunar Foundation [78].



custom clocks completely anew or based on an open reference design that meets the timing contribution criteria [9].

#### Averaging

With multiple nodes keeping the time, the local lunar time can be averaged across all nodes for more stable network time. Simply averaging the time across the entire population weighs the contribution of every clock equally. If a contributor introduces a more accurate clock, every participant benefits. The caveat to a true average is that there should be a minimum acceptable clock accuracy to prevent the time standard from degrading below the required level.

When the time sources are operated by a diverse community, the accuracy and stability of contributing clocks is sure to vary. A Kalman filter could be used to incorporate this variety of sources into a "best estimate" for a common lunar reference time that would in turn be asserted to all the clock nodes. The Kalman filter attributes more influence over the estimate to sources with more accuracy and/or more stability, making the estimate robust to underperforming sources [79]. For decades, the time from trusted clock operators has been combined in this way to maintain TAI as a global time basis [53].

#### Voting

Consider instead a voting system in which nodes reach a common time by voting toward a given time value, and each node's influence is proportional to their respective accuracy or contributions to the standard. The local time would be determined by reaching a distributed consensus [80], [81]. This is especially important when considering a stratified or delegate-based topology.

A democratic paradigm invites collaboration because more accurate clocks would have more influence over the time standard. Relating voting influence to participation encourages actors to engage with the time standard in ways that improve the time standard itself. As actors compete for influence by introducing better clocks, the overall accuracy of the time service improves and every participant benefits.

Decentralized governance is an active field of study and a diverse ecosystem of Decentralized Autonomous Organizations (DAOs) are already experimenting with governance models based upon web3 infrastructures [82], [83]. A public registry of contributions to the time standard is critical for establishing trust in a collaborative environment among actors that may not be on friendly terms [84].

#### **Open Questions**

• How do clients retrieve the standard time? Is this approach compatible with *Option 0* or *Option 1*?



- Who controls this service? What jurisdiction are they associated with?
- How do community members contribute? What measures are needed to prevent abuse or misuse

## **Option 3: Decentralized Time Between Peers**

A decentralized approach invites collaboration and encourages openness—the time standard itself would embody the desired values for an open, independent lunar time discussed in *Part I*. This concept is the most complex and unorthodox of the presented implementation options, but most closely exhibits these values.

Consider a network of heterogeneous time sources where no single time source designated as the reference time, nor is there a steward who maintains the "true" local lunar time. Instead, all lunar actors use an open protocol to determine a shared common time between them [85]–[87]. With this approach, there is no "global" lunar reference time—rather, each area of activity maintains a synchronized, shared, and coordinated time reference derived from the open time synchronization protocol.



The local lunar time emerges as the shared timing signal used by many actors coordinating in an area. Some nodes in the local environment may be occasionally synchronized to TAI or other external time sources. Over time, the shared local time in an area converges to a stable timing signal.

The common paradigm of operating distinct subnets that terminate at a time reference would still be possible, as long as one member of the subnet interfaces with others outside the subnet, but would not contribute to the success of the service as a whole and is not in the spirit of a decentralized service. In a dynamic environment, it may be more beneficial for secondary nodes to also (re)distribute the time, rather than waiting for more subnet infrastructure to be established.

As more actors participate, the stability of timing synchronization is expected to improve. As adoption increases, access to a nearby time source and overall timing stability would increase in turn [88]. On the other hand, such a system might be very unstable and inaccurate until a critical level of adoption is reached—with mass adoption, however, it may prove to be even more resilient than a centralized service.



#### **Open Questions**

- Is it necessary to have a "global" lunar time reference? Could dynamic local lunar "time zones" be manageable?
- What is the critical level of adoption above which this approach becomes stable and accurate in the long-term?
- Will actors be willing to synchronize their time with anonymous or antagonist nodes? How resilient is this approach to abuse or misuse?

## **Proximity-Based Synchronization**

In a proximity-based decentralized model, nodes adjust their oscillation phase to match the phase of neighbouring nodes. Eventually, the wider population becomes synchronized since all constituent nodes are coupled [85], [86], [89]–[94].



Clocks adjust frequency to match its neighbours, little by little. Actors close to each other will be more tightly synchronized as compared to actors far away.

Under the Kuramoto model, neighbouring oscillators "nudge" each other toward the average between them and the phase of each member in the population eventually converges to be synchronous [95]. The drawback is that this topology is very loosely grounded to a reference time, if at all, because it is only concerned with peers synchronizing to each other. Synchronization between distant clusters is weak. While two distant members may not be exactly in phase, neighbouring members will be tightly coupled—this could be sufficient for coordinated PNT in localized areas [88].

#### **Open Questions**

• What are the minimum communication requirements for a node to participate? Would every member be expected to support intersatellite links?



## Local Synchronization Clusters with Delegates

Consider a modified proximity-based approach, where at least one member of a local node cluster is delegated to occasionally synchronized with distant peers or reference times. The local cluster would synchronize to the "barycentric centre" time between them [96]–[98]. The delegate node would attempt to keep the cluster synchronized to an external source to prevent the cluster from deviating too far from the "global" reference [92].



Nodes in proximity adjust their phase to match their neighbours, and some "delegate" nodes in the local cluster reach out to other clusters to synchronize with their respective delegates.

This model is useful to establish a diverse cooperative network of potentially antagonistic actors because it allows a group of actors to channel inter-cluster communications through a special peer, perhaps one with increased encryption capability. Distributed consensus algorithms are often used in cloud computing to achieve similar objectives [99]. Unlike cloud computing infrastructure, however, nodes in the lunar network are subject to relativistic effects from gravity and orbital speeds [100].

#### **Open Questions**

- What are the minimum communication requirements for a node to be a member of a cluster? A delegate?
- How are delegates selected or designated? A vote from the cluster? Pick the node with the best communications capability



# **PART V: Conclusion**

In conclusion, lunar timekeeping is a critical aspect of positioning, navigation, and timing in cislunar space. Establishing a local lunar time standard is necessary to ensure accurate and reliable timekeeping for future lunar missions. However, determining the best approach for lunar timekeeping is not clear-cut and requires further research and experimentation.

The paper proposes the establishment of a local lunar time standard that can be accessed using technology likely to be included in most lunar missions. This local lunar time standard would not require direct links to Earth or precision instruments, and its existence could significantly enhance the positioning, navigation, and timing capabilities of lunar missions. Unlike terrestrial synchronized time, a local lunar time standard can be implemented proactively before the activity that necessitates it occurs. This proactive implementation would enable lunar coordination and enhance the capabilities of lunar missions without waiting for specific activities to trigger the need for timekeeping.

There are several potential approaches to lunar timekeeping, including establishing a reference specification for a reliable timekeeping device, implementing a centrally managed source or network of sources for time synchronization, or developing a protocol for distributing time among peers in a distributed network. Each approach has its advantages and challenges, and finding the optimal solution requires careful consideration of various factors, such as accuracy, resilience, interoperability, and scalability. In selecting an approach, one must take into account the opportunities and considerations for stakeholders in the cislunar ecosystem, including options for missions to ignore, participate in seeding, or consume the proposed timekeeping protocol.

## Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Jacob Malthouse, Chelsea Robinson, Rachel Williams, Harshita Khera, and friends of Open Lunar Foundation for their support and advice; Pablo Moncada and members of MoonDAO for their passion and investment; Sarah Withee, Todd Ely, Daphna Enzer, Chris Rabotin, Dennis Ogbe, Kar-Ming Cheung, Sanford Krasner, Dan Mitchell, and David Breen for their attention, review, feedback, patience, and insights that were instrumental in writing this whitepaper; and Sarah Linden for her encouragement in the face of the overwhelming scope of this topic.



# **APPENDIX**

## Terminology

A time standard or reference time is basically a clock that serves as a common reference to many actors. A *clock* observes a frequency signal and monotonically counts intervals as they occur. Accuracy has an instantaneous error component (*phase offset*), deviation in the separation between pulses, and an integrated error component (*drift*), or the accumulated separation between two timing signals. Clocks in space also tend to drift due to relativistic effects that become significant at orbital speeds and long distances between objects in cislunar space [70]. *Stability* is a measure of the signal's variation from the ideal. International Atomic Time (TAI), Coordinated Universal Time (UTC), and Unix Epoch Time are examples of common time standards used today.



Example of signal accuracy versus stability [101].

Time standards have the special role of being a shared reference for situations where observations or information packets are time-critical, such as in telecommunications, time-transfer, and ranging. Actors (machines, people, computers, etc.) must share a common understanding of the time in order to coordinate time-critical actions, often by synchronizing their clocks to one another and/or a common standard time.

*Time transfer* is the term used to describe the process of multiple actors coordinating to use a shared timing frequency. In a *one-way* time transfer system, one actor communicates its time to another. In a *two-way* time transfer system, the two peers will both transmit, and will also receive each other's messages, thus performing two one-way time transfers to determine the difference between the remote clock and the local clock [15].

A *protocol* is a method by which actors interact to agree on the time. A *node* is a clock that shares the time with other clocks. The network *topology*, or the



arrangement of connections between nodes, is shaped by the protocol. Choosing a time synchronization protocol and network topology that best serves all participants is pivotal to bootstrapping open, cooperative, and agile timekeeping services in the lunar environment.

## Network time-server hierarchy as a baseline model

Typical network time is stratified by how far removed a clock is from the "true" time.

We can look to internet time-servers as a model for how time is distributed in a network of devices. A time-server in a time-transfer system typically consists of different strata, or layers, that represent the hierarchy of time sources and their reliability. These strata are commonly referred to as Stratum-0, Stratum-1, Stratum-2, and so on, with Stratum-0 being the most accurate and reliable source of time and higher strata representing lower levels of accuracy and reliability.

**Stratum-0** is the topmost layer in the time-server hierarchy and represents the most accurate and reliable source of time. It typically consists of atomic clocks or other highly precise timekeeping devices that generate a reference time signal. These devices are directly connected to a primary reference time source, such as a national time standard or a GPS satellite, and provide a highly accurate and stable reference for timekeeping.

**Stratum-1** represents the second layer in the time-server hierarchy and consists of servers that synchronize their time with one or more Stratum-0 sources. These servers act as primary time-servers and are commonly used as reference time sources for other devices and systems. Stratum-1 servers typically use precision timekeeping methods to synchronize their time with the Stratum-0 sources with little-to-no delay. *Stratum-1* time appliances are precision devices with synchronized to *Stratum-0* clocks Time servers like pool.ntp.org are *Stratum-1* time appliances [102].

**Stratum-2 (and higher)** represent(s) the next layer(s) in the time-server hierarchy and consists of servers that synchronize their time with one or more servers at the Stratum above. These servers act as secondary time-servers and are used as time sources for devices and systems that do not have direct access to Stratum-0 or Stratum-1 sources. Stratum-2 servers rely on Stratum-1 servers for time synchronization and may introduce additional network latency or errors in timekeeping. There can be higher strata in the time-server hierarchy, such as Stratum-3, Stratum-4, and so on, which represent lower levels of accuracy and reliability. These servers synchronize their time with higher-level stratum servers and may introduce further delays or errors in timekeeping.



## **Timekeeping technologies & methods**

There are many timekeeping instruments and methods that could potentially serve as the basis for a lunar time standard. Comparisons between them must navigate a treacherous trade space composed of stability, cost, complexity, size, mass, power, sensitivities to disturbances, and more. Below, we identify the characteristics and potential implementations of existing timekeeping technologies that could be used beyond Earth orbit.

#### Listening to existing signals

All deep space missions today have their clocks synchronized to terrestrial time standards by asserting it with commands sent directly to the spacecraft. For satellites without precise onboard timekeeping, PNT operations can be performed by remotely tracking a spacecraft's position and velocity and then sending commands or instruction sets, accounting for the communication delay. Between asserted time synchronizations, these spacecraft keep time using a local oscillator.

There are few instances where synchronous activities are performed by multiple deep-space actors, so this is usually an acceptable approach. This method is not viable for synchronous activities between autonomous actors where a link to Earth is not always available.

#### Asserting the time directly from Earth

Earth is home to the most precise clocks known to humanity. The reference time can be regularly updated on a lunar spacecraft with the Earth's reference time. Time transfer can be performed any time a lunar spacecraft establishes a communication link to a terrestrial ground station. Time-transfer with a communications link requires consent from all parties involved.

Direct links to cislunar spacecraft are not trivial to accomplish [4], [5]. The sheer distance from Earth to the Moon requires a significant amount of power and/or pointing accuracy to deliver messages across the divide, not to mention relativistic interactions between Earth's gravity field and the Moon's gravity field (neither of which are uniform), and actors travelling at thousands of meters per second. Both ends of the link (spacecraft and ground station) must contend with these challenges.

The main communications system today capable of time transfer to missions outside Earth orbit is NASA's Deep Space Network [2], [103], [104], which is already saturated with demand [105]. Even with additional resources invested in terrestrial networks with the express purpose of communication with lunar missions [106], a time transfer umbilical to Earth will likely inhibit the growth of an autonomous lunar ecosystem.



#### Catching GNSS signals that "missed" Earth

GNSS satellites are in medium Earth Orbit. The "shadow" of those signals may be detectable or even usable from lunar orbit [63]. GNSS is widely held to be the de facto Stratum-0 time source for terrestrial applications, including satellites orbiting Earth, but even GNSS-disciplined clocks must contend with environmental sources of error [107]."shadow"

If a spacecraft in cislunar space could detect GNSS signals, it could use them for clock synchronization in the same manner as satellites in Earth orbit [108]. These signals are beaconed "in the blind" and can be observed and used by the public.

Access to GNSS signals has not yet been tested in cislunar space, but experiments to use GNSS for lunar PNT are included in upcoming missions [12], [109]. Since all GNSS constellations continuously orient their transmitters toward Earth, Earth often gets in the way. There is a relatively strong signal that propagates to the side of GNSS transmissions, called "side lobes" that are also detectable on the Moon. The GNSS signals that do make it to the Moon are likely hard to detect thanks to the inverse-square law.

Supposing that all GNSS signals are measurable at the Moon, the position and timing accuracy derived from these signals is diminished further due to the narrow angular separation between GNSS sources in a lunar user's field of view [66].

## Using a local oscillator ("clock")

A local oscillator is a self-contained device that emits a signal of a measurable frequency, where each oscillation is quantized into "ticks." By counting how many ticks have elapsed, you can keep time—as long as you know the length of each tick. No oscillator is perfect, and errors accumulate over time as drift. A local oscillator can only be observed by its host, and sharing the time is up to the host's discretion.

#### **Crystal Oscillator**

Crystal oscillators are the timing basis for nearly all modern digital electronics [110]. They have excellent short-term accuracy, but are vulnerable to drift and usually require regular syncing with a "time reference" that is known to have greater precision.

Crystal oscillators are prone to drift as a function of temperature and ageing. More advanced clocks, called Temperature-Compensated Crystal Oscillators (TCXOs), include a temperature sensor and feedback control loop that adjusts the input voltage to the crystal to compensate for temperature-dependent frequency



variations to keep the output stable, independent of the local environment's temperature.



The accuracy of quartz oscillators is affected by the environment and component ageing but is generally stable within tens of microseconds [101].

Radiation-tolerant TCXOs designed for use in space applications are commercially available [111]. A free-running high-precision oven-controlled quartz oscillator can drift at a rate of about 0.5 PPM unless disciplined by GPS; a common quartz wristwatch may drift at a rate of 2.75 PPM [112].

#### Rubidium Atomic Frequency Standard (RAFS)

GPS satellites are highly regarded for their timekeeping precision and stability [113], [114]. Fortunately, their clocks are commercially available—at a price (thousands to millions of dollars) [115]–[118].

Plug and play rubidium-based chip scale atomic clock, originally developed for GNSS satellites. Works just like a CSAC, because it is one. However, RAFS are usually orders of magnitude more expensive and heavier than a typical CSAC due to extensive measures taken to make the device resilient in a space environment and validate its performance against strict standards [119].

RAFS oscillators require more power to operate than TCXOs and are generally less stable in the short-term, but have excellent long-term stability and accuracy over time [114], [120].



## Deep Space Atomic Clock (DSAC)

A quartz crystal oscillator is connected to a feedback control loop that locks the output frequency to the atomic resonance of the ion used in the instrument. This "trapped ion" technique is very, very stable because it uses a special method to isolate the resonator from outside disturbances [4], [121].

Trapped ion clocks (like DSAC) electromagnetically constrain atoms to mitigate interactions between the atoms and the confinement chamber's walls. The ultra-stable Local Oscillator or LO is a mechanical oscillator such as a quartz crystal, used as a reference for a synthesizer, which generates the 40.5 GHz ion resonance interrogation frequency. Ion measurements described in the text determine the error in this frequency and feed this back as a correction to either the LO or a user output synthesizer. In this way, the user output frequency is locked to the ion resonance.

Big, complicated, power-hungry, and built as a one-off—but it is exceptionally precise and accurate, even in deep space [122]. At least one future deep space mission will use an evolution of DSAC for PNT [123].

## Chip Scale Atomic Clock (CSAC)

A quartz crystal oscillator is connected to a feedback control loop that locks the output frequency to the atomic resonance of the ion used in the instrument [101]. The whole device with supporting electronics fits in the palm of one's hand.

Commercially available CSAC devices are not as accurate as DSAC or RAFS, but probably "good enough" for most space missions and much less expensive [115], [124].

## Watching celestial objects

There are periodic signals that originate outside the solar system. A time standard derived from observations of these signals would be independently verifiable and inherently apolitical—a tempting proposition, but one that proves to be as technically difficult as it is philosophically agreeable.

#### Sundial

A flat plate or prism with a special, calibrated orientation to the sun.

The geometric relationship between the Sun and Moon is periodic. Use the shadow of projected sunlight to trace the progression of time as the shadow of a calibrated geometric surface changes over time.



The primary element of a sundial, the part that casts a shadow, is purely geometric and has no moving parts. Unfortunately, a sundial at the Moon won't be directly observable with human eyes, unlike the sundials on Earth. A measurement system to quantize the shadow as a unit of time is likely possible, such as using an array of photodiodes, but would introduce a significant amount of complexity.

#### **Pulsar Detector**

Pulsars are rotating extrasolar objects that emit jets of energy, detectable as pulses of electromagnetic waves, like a lighthouse. The locations of these pulsars and their pulse characteristics are well-characterized and catalogued. Timing can be deduced from measuring the frequency of a pulsar signal time series [6], [125], [126].

A time series of observations of a pulsar are made and corrected for the proper motion of the spacecraft with respect to the solar system barycenter (SSB). A pulse profile (pulse phase histogram) of the observations represents the temporal emission characteristics of the pulsar. Also: the phase difference between the observed and predicted pulse phase can be used to determine relative motion from the SSB—observations of 4 distinct pulsars provide a 3D fix on position and velocity.

Radio signals from pulsars are weak and require large antenna arrays; X-ray detectors are about 1 square meter, but are exquisite. Young pulsars exhibit "glitches," or abrupt changes in rotation frequency, but this is rare in older pulsars. All pulsars exhibit inherent timing noise, with RMS residuals between 0.1 to 1 microsecond.

## Synthesizing a "virtual" clock from many other clocks

A "virtual" clock is a time signal that is derived from the combination of other time signals [127], [128]. Virtual clocks can be synthesized at any level in a system—each node used to form the virtual clock may itself be a virtual clock.

One or more CSACs are hosted onboard as the primary timekeeping devices. Many TCXOs would also be hosted onboard to make the system even more robust. Locally, the CSACs and TCXOs would have their noise characteristics calibrated and combined with a Kalman filter (basically a weighted average based on instrument precision). The host platform would connect to GNSS as often as possible for time steering and include GNSS as a member of the Kalman filter. The output signal from the Kalman filter is a composite "best guess" that would act as a high-precision virtual clock node.



## Time transfer protocols

The manner of time transfer bounds the system requirements for a time source's host platform. This section explains major differences between methods of time transfer and existing time transfer protocols.

#### Impact of time transfer approach on host architectures

#### Beaconed (one-way) signal from the time standard

In a manner similar to GPS, where a reference signal is broadcasted across an area and the responsibility of positioning, navigation, and timing (PNT) lies with the receiver or listener, the beacon for lunar timekeeping passively broadcasts the timing signal. The beacon must remain stable over time and synchronize with a grounded reference, such as Earth time. Unlike ranging, where multiple time standards and simultaneous connections are required, timing only requires one time standard. However, a drawback is that the accuracy of timing depends solely on the participants, and it does not improve the timing between nearby actors. If one actor has a better clock, the neighbour with a worse clock may not be aware or affected.

Another challenge is the issue of power and isolationism. Broadcasting a time signal across a large area requires significant power, and the signal may not be useful in areas where there are no receivers. Lower power results in a shorter effective range as the signal spreads out over distance. However, on the positive side, receivers can use low power and commoditized technologies to bootstrap newcomers in the lunar ecosystem with accurate PNT, even though the required power from the transmitter is substantial. Despite these challenges, a beaconed time signal has the potential to enable accurate PNT for lunar missions with low power receivers, contributing to the evolving landscape of timekeeping technologies and methods in cislunar space [129].

#### Direct link (two-way) to the time standard

It takes much less power to send a focused beam to a target and communicate with it, rather than a wide-beam broadcast. Doing so requires more specialized equipment (a radio that can direct the beam) and knowledge of the location of peers (so the beam is pointed in the right direction) [130]. A direct link is much more likely to establish a reliable connection.

In a diverse ecosystem with potentially antagonistic actors, it is especially difficult to implement an interoperability standard based on direct links.



#### Peers as signal repeaters (one-way or two-way)

The APRS system is a decentralized communication network in which each participant listens to all signals, checks if it is the desired recipient, and if not it rebroadcasts the signal [131]. This system allows many lower power transmitters to relay messages over long distances without a direct communication path between the originator and the desired recipient. On Earth, APRS is a heterogeneous system with some repeaters connected to the internet. A high altitude balloon with an APRS module, for example, could send data to a nearby radio tower that's connected to the internet and forwards the data across the world to an operator on another continent.

A cooperative network of repeaters bridges the gap. Actors can bounce signals between nodes across large distances by only having to talk to their neighbours, lowering the power barrier to entry. Nodes can cooperate using direct links OR beacons. Friendly actors can directly link, and can also cooperate with antagonistic actors with an interoperable beacon. As a bonus, this repeater architecture establishes a foundation for a cooperative data relay network for more than just time transfer!

The drawbacks are that each "hop" introduces more timing error, and the path between a time source and a client is not direct. While data, commanding, and telemetry may use delay/disruption-tolerant networking (DTN) and communication relays [132], time transfer messages inherently require a direct connection since the messages are naturally time-critical.

#### Network Time Protocol (NTP)

The Network Time Protocol (NTP) is a familiar topology, since it's how most of the internet coordinates the time [133]. The basis of NTP is simple: a server's time is communicated to clients on the local network, along with statistics about the time source such as frequency error, stability, phase offset<sup>20</sup> so that clients may choose to ignore unreliable time sources. There exists a reference clock (*Stratum-0*) that provides the best possible time to servers directly connected to it (*Stratum-1*). Time-servers may synchronize to peers on the network.<sup>21</sup>

Synchronization with NTP is best summarized by the NTP-FAQ [134]:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> If we think about clock ticks in terms of angles around the unit circle, *phase offset* is the angular distance between the two signals, while *drift* keeps track of how many times the difference was "wound" around the unit circle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> For example, time-server A is a *Stratum-n* time source and maintains a time signal that is *n*-synchronizations removed from the reference time. Time-server B searches for a reference time on its local network (or a time-server with the lowest stratum) and finds A. After B syncs to A, B updates its status to become a *Stratum-(n+1)* time-server for other peers on the local network.



Synchronising a client to a network server consists of several packet exchanges, where each exchange is a pair of request and reply. When sending out a request, the client stores its own time (*originate timestamp*) into the packet being sent. When a server receives such a packet, it will in turn store its own time (*receive timestamp*) into the packet, and the packet will be returned after putting a *transmit timestamp* into the packet. When receiving the reply, the receiver will once more log its own receipt time to estimate the travelling time of the packet. The travelling time (*delay*) is estimated to be half of "*the total delay minus remote processing time*", assuming symmetrical delays.

Those time differences can be used to estimate the time offset between both machines, as well as the *dispersion* (maximum offset error). The shorter and more symmetric the round-trip time, the more accurate the estimate of the current time.

Time is not believed until several packet exchanges have taken place, each passing a set of sanity checks. Only if the replies from a server satisfy the conditions defined in the protocol specification, the server is considered valid. Time cannot be synchronised from a server that is considered invalid by the protocol. Some essential values are put into multi-stage filters for statistical purposes to improve and estimate the quality of the samples from each server. All used servers are evaluated for a consistent time. In case of disagreements, the largest set of agreeing servers (*truechimers*) is used to produce a combined *reference time*, thereby declaring other servers as invalid (*falsetickers*).

In a stratified system, accuracy and stability degrades as time is transferred through devices and becomes further removed from the Stratum-0 time source [57]. Distributed clock synchronization networks are resilient, however, in terms of connectivity and failure recovery [88]. Yet if the stable source of the "true time" reference is cut off from the NTP network, time-server peers are prone to "death spiralling" where peers are caught in a loop of syncing to one another and incrementing their degree of separation until they are all at the lowest quality stratum.

In a terrestrial context, GNSS satellites are considered to be *Stratum-O* clocks, and the highest accuracy (*Stratum-1*) time-servers use GNSS receivers to synchronise very precise local oscillators to the signal broadcast from the GNSS satellites. For most computers connected to the internet, timing accuracy with NTP ranges from about 5ms to 100ms, varying with network delays [134].

## Precision Time Protocol (PTP)

Precision Time Protocol (PTP), also known as IEEE 1588-2019, is a network timing protocol capable of synchronising clocks on a local network with nanosecond



accuracy [135]. PTP is designed around the concept of a Grand Master clock that disciplines clocks on its local network.

PTP derives its accuracy by using *hardware* timestamps, unlike NTP, which uses software timestamps. PTP also keeps track of delays incurred by the device itself (NTP only accounts for network delay) [136].

## Peer-to-Peer/Distributed Clock Synchronization

Peer-to-peer or distributed clock synchronization protocols reach a "consensus" synchronization among participants rather than maintaining the population's time with respect to an external reference [89], [91], [94], [96], [98].

Peer-to-peer clock synchronization is not widely used in distributed systems, but it is an active field of study.

## **Bundle Protocol**

Bundle Protocol v7 (BPv7) is a communication protocol that is designed for use in space environments, including cislunar space. It is specifically designed to enable efficient and reliable communication in scenarios where there may be disruptions, delays, or limitations in network connectivity [137].

In the context of time transfer in cislunar space, BPv7 can be utilized to facilitate the exchange of timing information between different lunar missions or spacecraft. Time transfer in cislunar space involves establishing a common reference time among different lunar missions or spacecraft to enable coordinated operations, navigation, and positioning.

BPv7 can be used to package and transmit time-related data, such as timestamps, clock synchronization information, or timing messages, in bundles. These bundles can be sent between lunar missions or spacecraft using available communication links, such as lunar orbiters, lunar landers, or lunar surface communication systems.

BPv7 provides features such as store-and-forward, which allows bundles to be temporarily stored and forwarded by intermediate nodes until a reliable communication link is available, even in the presence of disruptions or delays. This ensures that time-related data can be reliably exchanged even in challenging communication scenarios in cislunar space.

Additionally, BPv7 supports various types of bundle custody transfer, which allows ownership and responsibility for bundles to be transferred between spacecraft or lunar missions. This feature can be utilized for time transfer in cislunar space to



ensure that the correct timing information is properly received and maintained by the intended recipients [138].



# REFERENCES

- R. Roncoli and K. Fujii, "Mission Design Overview for the Gravity Recovery and Interior Laboratory (GRAIL) Mission," in *AIAA/AAS Astrodynamics Specialist Conference*, Toronto, Ontario, Canada: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Aug. 2010. doi: 10.2514/6.2010-8383.
- [2] L. Felton, L. Pitts, and F. VanLandingham, "NASA Architecture for Solar System Time Synchronization and Dissemination: Concept of Operations," in *SpaceOps 2008 Conference*, Heidelberg, Germany: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, May 2008. doi: 10.2514/6.2008-3229.
- [3] Evenflow, LE Europe Ltd., and Valdani, Vicari & Associates, "GNSS Investment Report 2021," European Investment Bank, Brussels, 2021.
- [4] E. A. Burt *et al.*, "Demonstration of a trapped-ion atomic clock in space," *Nature*, vol. 595, no. 7865, pp. 43–47, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03571-7.
- [5] B. Cheetham, "Cislunar Autonomous Positioning System Technology Operations and Navigation Experiment (CAPSTONE)," in ASCEND 2021, Las Vegas, Nevada & Virtual: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Nov. 2021. doi: 10.2514/6.2021-4128.
- [6] S. Shemar et al., "Towards practical autonomous deep-space navigation using X-Ray pulsar timing," *Exp Astron*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 101–138, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1007/s10686-016-9496-z.
- [7] B. E. Bowen, *War in space: strategy, spacepower, geopolitics.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 2020.
- [8] J. Puig-Suari, C. Turner, and W. Ahlgren, "Development of the standard CubeSat deployer and a CubeSat class PicoSatellite," in *2001 IEEE Aerospace Conference Proceedings (Cat. No.01TH8542)*, Big Sky, MT, USA: IEEE, 2001, p. 1/347-1/353. doi: 10.1109/AERO.2001.931726.
- [9] A. Chin, R. Coelho, L. Brooks, G. Student, R. Nugent, and J. P. Suari, "Standardization Promotes Flexibility: A Review of CubeSats' Success," 2008. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023.
   [Online]. Available: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Standardization-Promotes-Flexibility%3A-A-Revi ew-of-Chin-Coelho/2ccd7bcb1f253432bc60dcebd2a4dc2736c3f514#references
- [10] T. Villela, C. A. Costa, A. M. Brandão, F. T. Bueno, and R. Leonardi, "Towards the Thousandth CubeSat: A Statistical Overview," *International Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, vol. 2019, pp. 1–13, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/5063145.
- [11] D. J. Israel et al., "LunaNet: a Flexible and Extensible Lunar Exploration Communications and Navigation Infrastructure," in 2020 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Big Sky, MT, USA: IEEE, Mar. 2020, pp. 1–14. doi: 10.1109/AERO47225.2020.9172509.
- [12] P. Giordano, F. Malman, R. Swinden, P. Zoccarato, and J. Ventura-Traveset, "The Lunar Pathfinder PNT Experiment and Moonlight Navigation Service: The Future of Lunar Position, Navigation and Timing," presented at the 2022 International Technical Meeting of The Institute of Navigation, Long Beach, California, Long Beach, California, Feb. 2022, pp. 632–642. doi: 10.33012/2022.18225.



- [13] "NIST Time Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ)," NIST, Feb. 2010, Accessed: Feb. 19, 2023.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.nist.gov/pml/time-and-frequency-division/nist-time-frequently-asked-questions-faq
- [14] "How Kani helped find bugs in Hifitime," Kani Rust Verifier Blog, Mar. 31, 2023. https://model-checking.github.io//kani-verifier-blog/2023/03/31/how-kani-helped-find-bugs-in-hifitime.html (accessed Apr. 10, 2023).
- [15] A. Gifford *et al.*, "Time Dissemination Alternatives for Future NASA Applications," p. 11, Jan. 2007.
- [16] H. McPhee, J.-Y. Tourneret, D. Valat, P. Paimblanc, J. Delporte, and Y. Grégoire, "A Robust Time Scale Based on Maximum Likelihood Estimation," presented at the Proceedings of the 54th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Jan. 2022, pp. 61–75. doi: 10.33012/2023.18701.
- [17] J. Levine, "Steering a Time Scale," presented at the Proceedings of the 40th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Dec. 2008, pp. 205–218. Accessed: Feb. 19, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://www.ion.org/publications/abstract.cfm?jp=p&articleID=10635
- J. Levine, "Panel Discussion on Time Rollover Events and Leap Seconds," NIST, pp. 399–402, Jan. 1997, Accessed: Feb. 19, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.nist.gov/publications/panel-discussion-time-rollover-events-and-leap-seconds
- [19] O. O. Byagowi Ahmad, "It's time to leave the leap second in the past," *Engineering at Meta*, Jul. 25, 2022.
  https://engineering.fb.com/2022/07/25/production-engineering/its-time-to-leave-the-leap-second-in-the-past/ (accessed Feb. 19, 2023).
- [20] "Not Everyone Occupies the Same Now': Reconceptualizing Clock Time," in Shaping the Day, Oxford University Press, 2009, pp. 65–99. doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199278206.001.0001.
- [21] D. Howse, *Greenwich time and the discovery of the longitude*. Oxford ; New York : Oxford University Press, 1980. Accessed: Feb. 07, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://archive.org/details/greenwichtimedis0000hows
- [22] Various, "International Conference Held at Washington for the Purpose of Fixing a Prime Meridian and a Universal Day." www.gutenberg.org, Oct. 1884. Accessed: Feb. 07, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.gutenberg.org/files/17759/17759-h/17759-h.htm
- [23] NASA, "Artemis Accords." Oct. 13, 2020. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.nasa.gov/specials/artemis-accords/img/Artemis-Accords-signed-13Oct2020. pdf
- [24] "Japan approves first ever commercial activity on Moon," *Engineering Matters.* https://engineeringmatters.reby.media/2022/11/10/japan-approves-first-ever-commercialactivity-on-moon/ (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [25] "China Proposes Establishing Moon-Based Special Economic Zone," China Briefing, Nov.



08, 2019.

https://www.china-briefing.com/news/china-proposes-establishing-moon-based-specialeconomic-zone/ (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).

- [26] G. Swiney and A. Hernandez, "Lunar Landing and Operations Policy Analysis," NASA Office of Technology, Policy, and Strategy, NASA Headquarters, Report ID 20220015973, Sep. 2022.
- [27] J. Borrell, "How to revive multilateralism in a multipolar world?," Eurapean Union External Action (EEAS) Website, Mar. 16, 2021. https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/how-revive-multilateralism-multipolar-world\_en (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [28] B. Bender, "We better watch out': NASA boss sounds alarm on Chinese moon ambitions," *POLITICO*, Jan. 01, 2023. https://www.politico.com/news/2023/01/01/we-better-watch-out-nasa-boss-sounds-alarm -on-chinese-moon-ambitions-00075803 (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [29] J. Chen, "Controversy over Russian vessel in Antarctica reveals CCAMLR shortcomings," *China Dialogue Ocean*, Jan. 11, 2021. https://chinadialogueocean.net/en/fisheries/15935-controversy-over-russian-vessel-in-ant arctica-reveals-ccamlr-shortcomings/ (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [30] C. Suplee, "A BRIEF HISTORY OF TIME-KEEPING:," Washington Post, Nov. 16, 1994. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/politics/1994/11/16/a-brief-history-of-time-keeping/1735193f-0c41-4657-af73-16e7b54a9665/
- [31] M. Schiavenza, "China Only Has One Time Zone—and That's a Problem," *The Atlantic*, Nov. 05, 2013.
   https://www.theatlantic.com/china/archive/2013/11/china-only-has-one-time-zone-and-th ats-a-problem/281136/ (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [32] R. Corp, "Artemis: Nasa expects humans to live on Moon this decade," BBC News, Nov. 19, 2022. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-63688229
- [33] Tribune wire, "The politics of time: why countries switch time zones," *Chicago Tribune*, Aug. 07, 2015.
   https://www.chicagotribune.com/suburbs/naperville-sun/opinion/ct-north-korea-time-zo ne-20150807-story.html (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [34] R. C. Reed, *Train wrecks: a pictorial history of accidents on the main line*. New York: Bonanza Books: Distributed by Crown Publishers, 1982. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://archive.org/details/trainwreckspicto00reed
- [35] D. Elburn, "Artemis III: NASA's First Human Mission to the Lunar South Pole," *NASA*, Nov. 15, 2022. http://www.nasa.gov/feature/artemis-iii (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [36] C. Carbone, "NASA calls on China to be 'open and transparent' with lunar missions," *Daily Mail Online*, Sep. 07, 2022.
  https://www.dailymail.co.uk/sciencetech/article-11189291/NASA-tells-China-open-transparent-OVERLAP-lunar-landing-sites-revealed.html (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).



- [37] China 'N Asia Spaceflight \*\* [@CNSpaceflight], "Last week, NASA announced 13 candidate landing regions for future Artemis missions to the Moon. For comparison, I add landing sites proposed by CAST scientists for China's future lunar landing missions in this figure . Data from a paper published in 2020 http://jdse.bit.edu.cn/sktcxb/cn/article/doi/10.15982/j.issn.2095-7777.2020.20191003002 https://t.co/md3OSZWpgR," *Twitter*, Aug. 22, 2022. https://twitter.com/CNSpaceflight/status/1561668251511185408 (accessed Feb. 18, 2023).
- [38] Pedersen, "The Empire Project: The Rise and Fall of the British World-System, 1830—1970, by John Darwin," *Victorian Studies*, vol. 53, no. 2, p. 321, 2011, doi: 10.2979/victorianstudies.53.2.321.
- [39] A. F. Burghardt, "The Bases of Territorial Claims," *Geographical Review*, vol. 63, no. 2, p. 225, Apr. 1973, doi: 10.2307/213412.
- [40] International Court of Justice, *Antarctica (United Kingdom v. Chile)*. 1955. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/27
- [41] K. Dodds, *Pink ice: Britain and the South Atlantic Empire*. London; New York: New York: I.B. Tauris; In the U.S. and Canada distributed by Palgrave Macmillan, 2002.
- [42] British Library, "Memorandum prepared for the Imperial Conference 1926," British Library, London, 1926.
- [43] Dominions Office, "Russian interest in Antarctic." The National Archives (UK), 1949-1951. [Online]. Available: https://discovery.nationalarchives.gov.uk/details/r/C4712030
- [44] A. Howkins, Frozen Empires: An Environmental History of the Antarctic Peninsula. Oxford University Press, 2017. doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190249144.001.0001.
- [45] S. Jardine, "Building Lunar Security and Cooperation Through an Astropolitical Lens-Why Normative Behaviours are Needed for Lunar Activity," Open Lunar Foundation, Dec. 14, 2022. https://www.openlunar.org/library/open-lunar-registry-blog-post-series-blog-3 (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [46] F. E. Martín, "The world is in a new phase of multipolar competition with strong overtones from the U.S.-China bilateral rivalry," Jun. 06, 2022. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023.
  [CEBRI]. Available: https://cebri.org/revista/en/artigo/38/the-world-is-in-a-new-phase-of-multipolar-competit ion-with-strong-overtones-from-the-us-china-bilateral-rivalry
- [47] S. Jardine, "Building Lunar Security and Cooperation Through an Astropolitical Lens- the role of normative behaviours in creating stability," *Open Lunar Foundation*, Nov. 10, 2022. https://www.openlunar.org/library/open-lunar-registry-project-blog-post-series-blog-1 (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [48] C. Hofacker, "For post-ISS era, consensus remains elusive over whether market can support multiple private stations," *Aerospace America*, Nov. 17, 2021. https://aerospaceamerica.aiaa.org/for-post-iss-era-consensus-remains-elusive-over-whet her-market-can-support-multiple-private-stations/ (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [49] S. Jardine *et al.*, "Overlooked Political Risks for 2022: The Politicization of 'Everything," London Politica, Jan. 2022. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available:



https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5efb88803e2328745c7b3c39/t/6251c8d54aa61f2027 0da177/1649526999305/London+Politica+Overlooked+Political+Risks+for+2022.pdf

- [50] "Space Tech Innovation and Regulations A Game of Catch-Up?," War in Space, RUSI, Oct. 03, 2022. Accessed: Apr. 11, 2023. [Podcast]. Available: https://www.rusi.orghttps://www.rusi.org
- [51] A. Santamaria Duthon et al., "Overlooked Political Risks for 2023," London Politica, Jan. 2023. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5efb88803e2328745c7b3c39/t/63ce9092c7f2942db c6c0dc0/1674481812821/London+Politica-+Overlooked+Political+Risks+for+2023.pdf
- [52] N. van Deusen and L. M. Koff, *Time: Sense, Space, Structure*. BRILL, 2016. doi: 10.1163/9789004312319.
- [53] G. Petit, F. Arias, and G. Panfilo, "International atomic time: Status and future challenges," *Comptes Rendus Physique*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 480–488, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.crhy.2015.03.002.
- [54] "Time metrology BIPM." https://www.bipm.org/en/time-metrology (accessed Apr. 10, 2023).
- [55] C. Al-Ekabi and C. Robinson, "Recent Lunar Activity, Stakeholders and Incentives A Backgrounder," Open Lunar Foundation, May 2021. Accessed: Feb. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.openlunar.org/library/recent-lunar-activity-stakeholders-and-incentives-a-b ackgrounder
- [56] M. Naseem, "Last-mile Analogies for a Lunar Communications Network Open Lunar Foundation," Open Lunar Foundation, Jan. 26, 2022. https://www.openlunar.org/library/last-mile (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [57] D. Hunt, D. Hunt, G. Korniss, and B. K. Szymanski, "Network synchronization in a noisy environment with time delays: fundamental limits and trade-offs.," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 105, no. 6, pp. 068701–068701, Aug. 2010, doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.105.068701.
- [58] J. W. Keller, N. E. Petro, and R. R. Vondrak, "The Lunar Reconnaissance Orbiter Mission Six years of science and exploration at the Moon," *Icarus*, vol. 273, pp. 2–24, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.icarus.2015.11.024.
- [59] Y. Haibo, Q. Lili, D. Shaowu, L. Wei, and Z. Hong, "The hydrogen maser and cesium clocks in time keeping at NTSC," in 2009 IEEE International Frequency Control Symposium Joint with the 22nd European Frequency and Time forum, Apr. 2009, pp. 639–642. doi: 10.1109/FREQ.2009.5168261.
- [60] V. Melle and M. J, "Cesium and Rubidium Frequency Standards Status and Performance on the GPS Program," presented at the Proceedings of the 27th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Dec. 1995, pp. 167–180. Accessed: Apr. 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://www.ion.org/publications/abstract.cfm?jp=p&articleID=14262
- [61] V. V. Flambaum, V. A. Dzuba, and A. Derevianko, "Magic Frequencies for Cesium Primary-Frequency Standard," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 101, no. 22, p. 220801, Nov. 2008, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.101.220801.



- [62] "BIPM Time Dept database." https://webtai.bipm.org/database/clock.html (accessed Apr. 10, 2023).
- [63] K.-M. Cheung, C. Lee, and D. Heckman, "Feasibility of 'Weak GPS' Real-Time Positioning and Timing at Lunar Distance," in 2020 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Big Sky, MT, USA: IEEE, Mar. 2020, pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1109/AERO47225.2020.9172327.
- [64] C. Shouraboura, M. D. Johnston, and D. Tran, "Prioritization and Oversubscribed Scheduling for NASA's Deep Space Network".
- [65] S. Bhamidipati, K. Iiyama, T. Mina, and G. Gao, "Time-Transfer from Terrestrial GPS for Distributed Lunar Surface Communication Networks," in 2022 IEEE Aerospace Conference (AERO), Mar. 2022, pp. 1–15. doi: 10.1109/AERO53065.2022.9843716.
- [66] D. Ogbe and M. I. Ferguson, "Passive positioning, navigation, and timing (PPNT) in cislunar space using earth-based transmitters," presented at the 2023 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Big Sky, MT, USA, Big Sky, MT, USA: IEEE, Mar. 2023.
- [67] R. Malmström, A. Lo, N. Brown, and G. Haney, "Continuous Communications to the Moon's South Pole," in *Space 2006*, in AIAA SPACE Forum. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, 2006. doi: 10.2514/6.2006-7453.
- [68] D. Divsalar, M. S. Net, and K.-M. Cheung, "Acquisition and tracking for communications between Lunar South Pole and Earth," in 2019 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Mar. 2019, pp. 1–14. doi: 10.1109/AERO.2019.8742112.
- [69] T. A. Ely and E. Lieb, "Constellations of elliptical inclined lunar orbits providing polar and global coverage," *J of Astronaut Sci*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 53–67, Mar. 2006, doi: 10.1007/BF03256476.
- [70] R. Nelson and T. Ely, *Relativistic transformations for time synchronization and dissemination in the solar system*. 2006.
- [71] M. Cosby and W. Tai, "Report of the Interagency Operations Advisory Group Lunar Communications Architecture Working Group," *Lunar Communications Architecture Working Group*, Jan. 2022.
- [72] A. Petro, "Surviving and Operating Through the Lunar Night," in 2020 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Mar. 2020, pp. 1–6. doi: 10.1109/AERO47225.2020.9172730.
- [73] J. Biswas, P. Q. Malzone, and F. Rößler, "Energy storage selection and operation for night-time survival of small lunar surface systems," *Acta Astronautica*, vol. 185, pp. 308–318, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.actaastro.2021.04.042.
- [74] R. Vaughan, "Mission Design and Implementation Considerations for Lunar Night Survival," Nov. 13, 2018. Accessed: Apr. 04, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ntrs.nasa.gov/citations/20190000997
- [75] "NTP server misuse and abuse," Wikipedia. Dec. 20, 2021. Accessed: Feb. 18, 2023.
  [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=NTP\_server\_misuse\_and\_abuse&oldid=1061191
   609
- [76] J. Novak and D. Hastings, "Analysis of proliferated low Earth orbit constellation resilience



against solar weather radiation effects," *Acta Astronautica*, vol. 202, pp. 292–302, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.actaastro.2022.10.031.

- [77] International Bureau of Weights and Measures (BIPM), "CCTF-WGMRA Guideline 8: Technical requirements for the time laboratories for the participation in UTC." Jun. 2017. Accessed: Apr. 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.bipm.org/documents/20126/30132530/cc-publication-ID-441-/52f1232f-eff0-2 9d4-3314-29c6e669aab1
- [78] R. Williams, "Incentives and Barriers to Corporate Engagement with the Lunar Registry," Open Lunar Foundation, Nov. 10, 2022. https://www.openlunar.org/library/open-lunar-registry-project-blog-post-series-blog-2 (accessed Apr. 10, 2023).
- [79] J. Levine, "Synchronizing Computer Clocks by the Use of Kalman Filters," presented at the Proceedings of the 43rd Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Nov. 2011, pp. 71–80. Accessed: Apr. 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://www.ion.org/publications/abstract.cfm?jp=p&articleID=10775
- [80] W. Ren and R. W. Beard, "Distributed Consensus in Multi-vehicle Cooperative Control: Theory and Applications," Oct. 2007.
- [81] R. Carli and S. Zampieri, "Networked clock synchronization based on second order linear consensus algorithms," pp. 7259–7264, Dec. 2010, doi: 10.1109/cdc.2010.5717128.
- [82] "The MoonDAO Constitution | MoonDAO Docs." https://docs.moondao.com/constitution/ (accessed Feb. 03, 2023).
- [83] S. Wang, W. Ding, J. Li, Y. Yuan, L. Ouyang, and F.-Y. Wang, "Decentralized Autonomous Organizations: Concept, Model, and Applications," *IEEE Trans. Comput. Soc. Syst.*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 870–878, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1109/TCSS.2019.2938190.
- [84] S. Jardine, "Building Lunar Security and Cooperation Through an Astropolitcal Lens- how to construct normative behaviours on the moon- enter the registry," *Open Lunar Foundation*, Dec. 16, 2022. https://www.openlunar.org/library/open-lunar-registry-project-blog-post-series-blog-4 (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [85] J. Levine, "An Algorithm for Synchronizing a Clock When the Data Are Received Over a Network With an Unstable Delay," *IEEE Trans. Ultrason., Ferroelect., Freq. Contr.*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 561–570, Apr. 2016, doi: 10.1109/TUFFC.2015.2495014.
- [86] S. Sharma, "Clock Synchronization in Decentralized Systems," KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, 2012. Accessed: Feb. 19, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:kth:diva-94141
- [87] N. A. Allen, "Distributed clock network with time synchronization and activity tracing between nodes," May 2013.
- [88] P. Dube and L. Zhang, "Resiliency of distributed clock synchronization networks," vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 54–56, Oct. 2010, doi: 10.1145/1870178.1870197.
- [89] A. Sobeih, M. Hack, Z. Liu, and Li Zhang, "Almost Peer-to-Peer Clock Synchronization," in 2007 IEEE International Parallel and Distributed Processing Symposium, Long Beach,



CA, USA: IEEE, 2007, pp. 1–10. doi: 10.1109/IPDPS.2007.370211.

- [90] F. Cristian, "Probabilistic clock synchronization," *Distributed Computing*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 146–158, Sep. 1989, doi: 10.1007/bf01784024.
- [91] E. Mallada and A. Tang, "Distributed clock synchronization: Joint frequency and phase consensus," pp. 6742–6747, Dec. 2011, doi: 10.1109/cdc.2011.6161231.
- [92] S. E. Froehlich, Michel H. T. Hack, M. H. T. Hack, X. Meng, and L. Zhang, "Achieving precise coordinated cluster time in a cluster environment," pp. 54–58, Oct. 2008, doi: 10.1109/ispcs.2008.4659213.
- [93] L. Schenato and F. Fiorentin, "Average TimeSynch: A consensus-based protocol for clock synchronization in wireless sensor networks," *Automatica*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 1878–1886, Sep. 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.automatica.2011.06.012.
- [94] R. Baldoni, A. Corsaro, L. Querzoni, S. Scipioni, and S. Tucci Piergiovanni, "Coupling-Based Internal Clock Synchronization for Large-Scale Dynamic Distributed Systems," *IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 607–619, May 2010, doi: 10.1109/TPDS.2009.111.
- [95] D. Brockmann and S. Strogatz, "Ride my Kuramotocycle!," Complexity Explorables, Apr. 14, 2018. https://www.complexity-explorables.org/explorables/ride-my-kuramotocycle/ (accessed Feb. 12, 2023).
- [96] N. Case, "Fireflies." http://ncase.me/fireflies/ (accessed Feb. 12, 2023).
- [97] N. Case, "ncase/fireflies." Feb. 12, 2023. Accessed: Feb. 12, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://github.com/ncase/fireflies
- [98] Y. Sun, Q. Jiang, and K. Zhang, "A clustering scheme for Reachback Firefly Synchronicity in wireless sensor networks," in 2012 3rd IEEE International Conference on Network Infrastructure and Digital Content, Sep. 2012, pp. 27–31. doi: 10.1109/ICNIDC.2012.6418705.
- [99] D. Ongaro and J. Ousterhout, "In Search of an Understandable Consensus Algorithm," May 2014.
- [100] C.-W. Chou, D. Hume, T. Rosenband, and D. J. Wineland, "Optical Clocks and Relativity," *Science*, vol. 329, no. 5999, pp. 1630–1633, Sep. 2010, doi: 10.1126/science.1192720.
- [101] M. Travagnin, *Chip-scale atomic clocks: physics, technologies, and applications.* Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2021.
- [102] "pool.ntp.org: the internet cluster of ntp servers." https://www.ntppool.org/en/ (accessed Feb. 11, 2023).
- [103] J. Lauf et al., "Clocks and timing in the NASA deep space network," in Proceedings of the 2005 IEEE International Frequency Control Symposium and Exposition, 2005., Vancouver, BC: IEEE, 2005, pp. 830–835. doi: 10.1109/FREQ.2005.1574041.
- [104] J. J. Miller et al., "NASA Architecture for Solar System Time Distribution," in 2007 IEEE International Frequency Control Symposium Joint with the 21st European Frequency and Time Forum, Geneva, Switzerland: IEEE, May 2007, pp. 1299–1303. doi: 10.2514/6.2008-3229.



- [105] B. Carruth, M. Johnston, A. Coffman, M. Wallace, B. Arroyo, and S. Malhotra, "A Collaborative Scheduling Environment for NASA's Deep Space Network," in *SpaceOps* 2010 Conference, Huntsville, Alabama: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Apr. 2010. doi: 10.2514/6.2010-2284.
- [106] Kongsberg Satellite Services, "KSAT to invest in a dedicated antenna network for lunar missions."

https://www.ksat.no/news/news-archive/2022/ksat-to-invest-in-antenna-network-for-luna r-missions/ (accessed Feb. 03, 2023).

- [107] A. Novick, M. A. Lombardi, D. Matsakis, and J. Clark, "Measurement of Transient Environmental Effects in GPS-Disciplined Clocks," presented at the Proceedings of the 54th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Jan. 2022, pp. 10–14. doi: 10.33012/2023.18695.
- [108] C. Rieck, P. Jarlemark, K. Jaldehag, and J. Johansson, "Real-Time Time and Frequency Transfer Using GPS Carrier Phase Observations," presented at the Proceedings of the 35th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Dec. 2003, pp. 157–172. Accessed: Feb. 19, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://www.ion.org/publications/abstract.cfm?jp=p&articleID=13890
- [109] S. Bhamidipati, T. Mina, and G. Gao, "Design Considerations of a Lunar Navigation Satellite System with Time-Transfer from Earth-GPS," presented at the 34th International Technical Meeting of the Satellite Division of The Institute of Navigation (ION GNSS+ 2021), St. Louis, Missouri, St. Louis, Missouri, Oct. 2021, pp. 950–965. doi: 10.33012/2021.18021.
- [110] N. Bujanos, "Choosing the Right Crystal for Your Oscillator," Circuit Cellar INK, no. 91, 1998, [Online]. Available: http://courses.nus.edu.sg/course/eleclf/mch5104/choose\_right\_crystal.pdf
- [111] "Rad-Tolerant Ruggedized Oscillators," *Microsemi.com*. https://www.microsemi.com/product-directory/radiation-tolerant-devices/3801-rad-tolera nt-ruggedized-oscillators (accessed Feb. 12, 2023).
- [112] "Clock Quality," *The NTP FAQ and HOWTO*, Nov. 21, 2006. http://www.ntp.org/ntpfaq/NTP-s-sw-clocks-quality.htm (accessed Feb. 18, 2023).
- [113] T. N. Bandi *et al.*, "Advanced space rubidium atomic frequency standard for satellite navigation," *GPS Solut*, vol. 26, no. 2, p. 54, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1007/s10291-022-01239-x.
- [114] M. Bloch, O. Mancini, and T. McClelland, "History and Performance of FEI Space-Class Oscillators," presented at the Proceedings of the 40th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Dec. 2008, pp. 29–50. Accessed: Feb. 19, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://www.ion.org/publications/abstract.cfm?jp=p&articleID=10620
- [115] "CSAC-SA45S," Microchip.com. https://www.microchip.com/en-us/product/CSAC-SA45S#document-table (accessed Feb. 12, 2023).
- [116] "RAFS," Orolia. https://www.orolia.com/product/rafs/ (accessed Feb. 12, 2023).
- [117] "Space-Qualified Rubidium Atomic Frequency Standard Clocks," *Excelitas Technologies*. https://www.excelitas.com/product/space-qualified-rubidium-atomic-frequency-standar



d-clocks (accessed Feb. 12, 2023).

- [118] "mRO-50 Ruggedized," Orolia. https://www.orolia.com/product/mro-50-ruggedized/ (accessed Feb. 18, 2023).
- [119] W. Riley, "Selection Criteria for Rubidium Frequency Standards." Hamilton Technical Services, Jan. 23, 2020. [Online]. Available: http://www.wriley.com/Selection%20Criteria%20for%20Rubidium%20Frequency%20Stan dards.pdf
- [120] C. Varuolo et al., "Development and Performance of a Digital Rubidium Atomic Frequency Standard (DRAFS) as a Next-Generation Space Clock," presented at the Proceedings of the 54th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Jan. 2022, pp. 165–178. doi: 10.33012/2023.18687.
- [121] J. Seubert, T. A. Ely, and J. Stuart, "Results of the Deep Space Atomic Clock Deep Space Navigation Analog Experiment," *Journal of Spacecraft and Rockets*, vol. 59, no. 6, pp. 1914–1925, Nov. 2022, doi: 10.2514/1.A35334.
- [122] I. J. O'Neill, "Working Overtime: NASA's Deep Space Atomic Clock Completes Mission," NASA Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL), Jul. 21, 2021. https://www.jpl.nasa.gov/news/working-overtime-nasas-deep-space-atomic-clock-compl etes-mission (accessed Feb. 19, 2023).
- [123] S. Smrekar et al., "VERITAS (Venus Emissivity, Radio Science, InSAR, Topography, and Spectroscopy): A Discovery Mission," in 2022 IEEE Aerospace Conference (AERO), Mar. 2022, pp. 1–20. doi: 10.1109/AERO53065.2022.9843269.
- [124] D. Van Buren, S. Palo, and P. Axelrad, "High Stability Reference Clock for Small Satellites," presented at the 50th Annual Precise Time and Time Interval Systems and Applications Meeting, Reston, Virginia, Reston, Virginia, Feb. 2019, pp. 149–167. doi: 10.33012/2019.16750.
- [125] C. S. Hisamoto and S. I. Sheikh, "Spacecraft Navigation Using Celestial Gamma-Ray Sources," *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1765–1774, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.2514/1.G001008.
- [126] W. J. Hurd and R. M. Goldstein, "Quasars as very-accurate clock synchronizers," NPO-13276, Jun. 1975. Accessed: Feb. 18, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ntrs.nasa.gov/citations/19750000114
- [127] D. Van Buren, P. Axelrad, and S. Palo, "Design of a high-stability heterogeneous clock system for small satellites in LEO," *GPS Solut*, vol. 25, no. 3, p. 105, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1007/s10291-021-01134-x.
- [128] W. Dür, M. Függer, and A. Steininger, "Generation of a fault-tolerant clock through redundant crystal oscillators," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 120, p. 114088, May 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.microrel.2021.114088.
- [129] E. H. Feinberg, J. Gabriel, Z. Lachance, and D. L. Akin, "Lunar Navigation Beacons: Technology Development and Mission Applications," in ASCEND 2022, Las Vegas, Nevada & Online: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Oct. 2022. doi: 10.2514/6.2022-4396.
- [130] D. Kirchner, "Two-way time transfer via communication satellites," vol. 79, no. 7, pp.



983–990, Jul. 1991, doi: 10.1109/5.84975.

- [131] R. Patmasari, I. Wijayanto, R. S. Deanto, Y. P. Gautama, and H. Vidyaningtyas, "Design and Realization of Automatic Packet Reporting System (APRS) for Sending Telemetry Data in Nano Satellite Communication System," *JMECS*, vol. 4, no. 1, p. 1, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.25124/jmecs.v4i1.1692.
- [132] P. Apollonio, C. Caini, and V. Fiore, "From the far side of the Moon: Delay/disruption-tolerant networking communications via lunar satellites," *China Commun.*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 12–25, Oct. 2013, doi: 10.1109/CC.2013.6650316.
- [133] D. L. Mills, "Internet time synchronization: the network time protocol," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 39, no. 10, pp. 1482–1493, Oct. 1991, doi: 10.1109/26.103043.
- [134] "How does it work?," *The NTP FAQ and HOWTO*, Nov. 21, 2006. http://www.ntp.org/ntpfaq/NTP-s-algo.htm (accessed Feb. 18, 2023).
- [135] F. Girela-Lopez, J. Lopez-Jimenez, M. Jimenez-Lopez, R. Rodriguez, E. Ros, and J. Diaz,
  "IEEE 1588 High Accuracy Default Profile: Applications and Challenges," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 45211–45220, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2978337.
- [136] "Network Timing Technology: NTP vs PTP," Masterclock, Inc. https://www.masterclock.com/support/library/network-timing-ntp-vs-ptp (accessed Feb. 19, 2023).
- [137] S. Burleigh, K. Fall, and E. J. Birrane, "Bundle Protocol Version 7," Internet Engineering Task Force, Request for Comments RFC 9171, Jan. 2022. doi: 10.17487/RFC9171.
- [138] E. J. Birrane and K. McKeever, "Bundle Protocol Security (BPSec)," Internet Engineering Task Force, Request for Comments RFC 9172, Jan. 2022. doi: 10.17487/RFC9172.